MSc Programme in Urban Management and Development Rotterdam, the Netherlands July 2023

Thesis title: Effectiveness of community education on enhancing environmental value towards a sustainable food system in Hong Kong

Name: Leung Jessica Wing Tung Supervisor: Alberto Gianoli Specialisation: Urban Environment, Sustainability & Climate Change Report number: 1712 UMD 19



Institute for Housing and Urban Development Studies of Erasmus University Rotterdam

Summary

Education for sustainable development (ESD) plays a vital part in building urban community resilience and adaptive capacity (McFarlane & Ogazon, 2011) by constructing individuals' environmental values, including knowledge, attitude, and behaviour (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002) in light of the global food challenges. In recent decades, bottom-up community education has become more prominent for its potential to raise awareness, enhance social cohesion and thus engage people in driving sustainable food transitions that are less effective in formal education settings (Tilbury & Wortman, 2008). Nonetheless, conventional community education still faces challenges in scaling up its long-term impact (Fraser et al., 2006; Tilbury & Wortman, 2008).

In Hong Kong, despite pro-environmental values being positively expressed by the general public, a wide value-action gap is still prominent (Chung & Leung, 2007a). To bridge this gap, School of Everyday Life (SOEL) (生活書院), a local-level non-governmental organization (NGO) based in Hong Kong, has designed a community education model adopting various learning approaches to drive ESD in the past 8 years. In particular, empowering learners to acquire knowledge and nurture long-term behavioural change towards a sustainable food system (SFS), through hands-on co-creation processes (Choi, 2015).

This paper therefore aims to evaluate the effectiveness of SOEL's community education model on enhancing individuals' environmental values in driving a SFS, in addition, existing challenges and opportunities to scale up development of community education in the local context for sustainability transition in the long-run. The method adapted is a qualitative case study approach, coupled with document analysis and qualitative interviews with SOEL's volunteer, employees and founders.

The analysis showed that SOEL's community education model is highly effective in enhancing individuals' environmental values towards SFS in the long-run with the key adoption of social learning, transformative learning, experiential learning and empowerment through volunteering learning processes. The extent of effectiveness in individuals' environmental values varies based on personal and external factors, which also imply challenges or barriers to adopt community education in driving food transitions.

The result provides valuable insight on the enabling conditions of an effective learning model for nurturing community's environmental values, also challenges and opportunities of scaling up the impact of community education to co-create a SFS. Future research is recommended to study community education models of different cultural and social context for different target audience, also to explore the potentials of joint-effort amongst interested and relevant stakeholders to co-create a SFS, driving sustainability transition collectively.

Keywords

Community education, sustainable food system, qualitative interview, Hong Kong, environmental value

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to thank Alberto, my thesis supervisor who has always been very helpful and responsive in giving constructive feedback to the development of my thesis ideas. You have been encouraging all the time, and suggested all kind of possibilities in enhancing the depth and quality of my research. Your time and effort is highly appreciated, thank you.

I would also like to thank all my lecturers and peers at IHS for sharing their passion, expertise and professional experience in the field of sustainable urban development. The critical discussion and knowledge exchange we had were valuable to my life-long learning. I have been much impressed and motivated by all of your passion and dedication towards the field, and I wish you success in your future endeavours.

Next, I would particularly send my gratitude towards my dear friend Tuck, who has been supporting me since the beginning of thesis development. You have given me lots of practical feedback, encouragement and most importantly, emotional support. The journey was tough but I am glad to have your support.

Lastly, I would like to thank all of the participants, volunteers, employee and founders of School of Everyday Life (SOEL) who agree to engage in the qualitative interviews for this thesis and have been striving hard to co-create a sustainable lifestyle within the communities in Hong Kong. Especially to Eno, the founder of SOEL and Koo, my key contact from SOEL who have provided me additional insight about the opportunities and challenges of running community education for sustainability in Hong Kong. Your life-long effort is acknowledged and highly appreciated.

Table of Contents

Summary	ii
Keywords	
Acknowledgements	
List of Figures	vi
List of Tables	vi
List of Photos	vii
Abbreviations	viii
Chanter 1: Introduction	1
1.1. Background Information and Problem Statement	
1.2. Relevance of the research topic	
1.3. Research objectives	
1.4. Main research question and sub-questions	
1.5. Thesis structure	
Chanter 2: Literature review and hypotheses	
2.1. Education for Sustainable Development (ESD)	
2.2. Community education model: State of the Art	
2.2.1. Transformative learning (TL)	8
2.2.2. Experiential learning (EL)	8 o
2.2.4. Empowerment through volunteering	
2.3. Environmental value of sustainable food system (SFS)	
2.3.1 Knowledge towards SFS	
2.3.2 Attitude towards SFS	
2.3.3. Behaviour towards SFS	
2.4. Summary and Conclusion	
2.5. Conceptual Framework	
2.5.1. Outcome	
2.3.2. Learning process (or independent variables)	10
Chapter 3: Research design, methodology	18
3.1. Introduction & justification of research design and methods	
3.2. Data collection	19
3.3. Data analysis methodology	
3.4. Expected challenges and limitation of data	
3.5. Operationalization of key concepts and expected relationships	

Part 4. Results, analysis and discussion	23
4.1. Challenges of driving SFS in Hong Kong	
4.2. Data analysis	
4.2.1. Sub-research question 1	
4.2.2. Sub-research question 2	
4.2.2.1. Knowledge towards SFS	
Level of knowledge before joining SOEL	
Level of knowledge after joining SOEL	
Other factors that affect the level of knowledge	
4.2.2.2. Attitude towards SFS	
Attitude towards SFS before joining SOEL	
Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL	
Other factors that affect the level of attitude	
4.2.2.3. Behaviour towards SFS	
Behaviour contributing to a SFS before joining SOEL	
Other factors that affect the level of behaviour	כ3
4.2.3. Sub-research question 3	
4.3. Discussion of findings	
Interpretation and implication of findings	
Limitation of this paper	
Part 5. Conclusions	42
Bibliography	46
Appendix 1: Work plan	54
Appendix 2: Interview guide	
Appendix 3: Background/ demographics of interviewees	
Appendix 4: List of key quotations from qualitative interviews	60
Appendix 5: Magazine articles of SOEL (For document analysis)	74
Appendix 6: IHS copyright form	

List of Figures

Figure 1. Percentage of climate change content in national education curriculum frameworks	6
Figure 2. Five priority action areas outlined by The ESD for 2030 roadmap	6
Figure 3. Six action principles and four policy support mechanisms for community-based learning guided b	y UNESCO
Figure 4. Figure of reasoned action	10
Figure 5. Model of pro-environmental behaviour	11
Figure 6. Components of a sustainable food system	12
Figure 7. Transition towards circular food behaviours: three types of behaviours and their characteristic	15
Figure 8. Conceptual framework	16
Figure 9. Overall level of individuals' understanding towards SFS before and after joining SOEL	27
Figure 10. A paired t-test at 99% confidence interval for level of understanding towards SFS before and a SOEL	fter joining 27
Figure 11. Overall level of individuals' attitude towards SFS before and after joining SOEL in short-terr term	n and long- 31
Figure 12. A paired t-test at 99% confidence interval for level of attitude towards SFS before and after joi	ning SOEL 31
Figure 13. Overall level of individual's behaviours towards SFS before and after joining SOEL in short- and	d long-term 34
Figure 14. A paired t-test at 99% confidence interval for respondents' behaviour towards SFS before and a SOEL	fter joining 35
Figure 15. Gender of interview respondents	58
Figure 16. Age range of interview respondents	58
Figure 17. Monthly income level of interview respondents	58
Figure 18. Occupational background of interview respondents	59
Figure 19. Number of years engaged in SOEL	59

List of Tables

Table 1. Element of analysis for SOEL's community education model 8
Table 2. General definition of knowledge, attitude, and behaviour as key components of environmental values11
Table 3. Specific definitions for "environmental value of SFS" developed from relevant literatures
Table 4. A summary of research approach
Table 5. Categories of interviewees 19
Table 6. Operationalization table
Table 7. Overview of SOEL's community engagement programme (SOEL, n.d.)
Table 8. Definition of "level of knowledge" towards SFS
Table 9. Definition of "level of attitude" towards SFS
Table 10. Examples of sustainable behaviour that contribute to a SFS 33
Table 11. Definition of "level of behaviour" towards SFS34
Table 12. New behaviour picked up by respondents in daily life after joining SOEL that contribute to a SFS
Table 13. Number of interview quotes on enabling learning approach that increase the level of knowledge, attitude and behaviour towards SFS

Table 14 Integrated insight for community organizations or education institutions to adopt various to drive SFS	learning approaches 43
Table 15. Work plan	54
Table 16. Key interview questions	56
Table 17. List of respondents	57
Table 18. Key quotes from respondents	73

List of Photos

Photo 1. Transformative learning at "Food for Life" studio exhibition	25
Photo 2. Social learning amongst community members	25
Photo 3. Experiential learning through plant-based cooking	25
Photo 4. Social learning amongst participants and volunteers	25
Photo 5. Place-based learning at local organic farms	26
Photo 6. Empowerment through volunteering	26

Abbreviations

CBL	Community-based learning
CSO	Civic society organization
CSR	Corporate social responsibility
EFS	Education for sustainability
EL	Experiential learning
ESD	Education for sustainable development
ESG	Environmental, social and governance
ESL	Education for sustainable lifestyles
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
GHGE	Greenhouse Gas Emissions
IHS	Institute for Housing and Urban Development Studies
NGO	Non-governmental organization
SD	Sustainable development
SDD	Sustainable Development Division
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
SFS	Sustainable food system
SL	Social learning
SLT	Social learning theory
SOEL	School of Everyday Life
TL	Transformative learning
UN	United Nations
UNDPI	United Nations Department of Public Information
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNESCO	The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Background Information and Problem Statement

There has been a prominent urgency to facilitate the process of sustainability transitions as illustrated by empirical literatures to address the increasingly pressing problem of climate change in the past decades (Geels, 2010; Hegerl et al., 2019; Loorbach et al., 2017). In particular, the global food system whose emissions accounts for almost 30% greenhouse gas emission (GHGE) (European Commission, 2023). Education for sustainable development (ESD), or education for sustainability (EFS), is therefore of utmost importance to enhance society's and individuals' environmental value, including knowledge, attitude and behaviour, for facilitating such transition (Bryant et al., 2021; Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002).

Despite the strength of formal education setting in fostering environmental literacy and awareness (McFarlane & Ogazon, 2011), there is still lack of actionable and effective learning approach to influence the actual behaviour of individuals (Li et al., 2018), as seen from the ongoing unsustainable food consumption and production pattern (Thoresen et al., 2015). Civic participation in decision making process or hands-on experience to co-create a sustainable food system (SFS) is also limited as access to formal education is not equal for every socio-economic group (Ritchie, 2013). Generally, consumers are not aware or underestimate the impact of their food consumption pattern to the environment (de Boer et al., 2016). In the case of Hong Kong, for instance, adjusting existing food consumption pattern to low-carbon-oriented is estimated to reduce GHGE by 17-44% (Yip & Fielding, 2017). Yet, as a city grounded by heavy consumerism culture, general public and students indeed lack interest and capacity to address wider environmental problem due to the passive, result-oriented learning style (Luo et al., 2015).

On the other hand, non-formal community education, or community-based learning (CBL) driven by local organizations or community groups, is progressively acknowledged as a key enabler to equip community members with practical knowledge, value, skillsets towards sustainability, building collective capacity for participatory actions (Tilbury & Wortman, 2008). Unlike top-down formal education settings, CBL focuses on the collective learning process and development of people with long-term capacity building that address societal needs (Engelbrecht, 2005). As active engagement with local communities plays a vital role in sustainable urban development (Petronienė & Juzelėnienė, 2022), bottom-up community engagement carries transformative power towards sustainability transitions through levering on the enhanced social connections, while fostering mindset growth among individuals thus motivating behavioural change (Jónsdóttir, 2019).

Despite various studies on the qualitative benefits of community education on advocating sustainability in general, limited evidence is available in the academic field to demonstrate its effect on actual behavioural change towards a SFS (Middlemiss, 2011), and the corresponding enabling conditions and barriers to drive these changes and overcome the challenges (Shove, 2010). In addition, community education often faces challenges such as lack of financial resources, low priority in the city's agenda, an inappropriate design of community engagement approaches etc. (Heras et al., 2021; Jónsdóttir, 2019; Rogers, 2005; UNESCO, 2020b). There are only few studies that suggest ways overcome these challenges, but not in details how exactly bottom-up community groups should design their community engagement model so that CBL can be delivered in a more effective and empowering ways. For instance in Hong

Kong, NGOs or bottom-up community initiatives working towards a SFS tend to be singlesolution focused. Citizens rarely have chance to participate in decision making or co-creation process of a more sustainable food production, consumption or food waste reduction & management (Choi, 2015; Jurgilevich et al., 2016).

Overall, effective community education models with high-level of community participation and engagement, and rich localization are needed to establish food transition pathway (Thoresen et al., 2015). There are very limited empirical studies to demonstrate the actual effectiveness of community education in the food regime as civic participation doesn't necessarily drive actual behavioural change (Thoresen et al., 2015), thus it would be beneficial to demonstrate a real-life case study of effective community education that drive long-term changes in community's environmental value, in particular behaviour that contribute to a SFS.

1.2. Relevance of the research topic

The academic motivation behind the thesis topic is based on collective literature gaps from the four key perspectives:

- 1. A lack of application of bottom-up community education by NGO to drive sustainable food transitions;
- 2. A lack of engagement with citizens in the co-creation of a SFS;
- 3. Insufficient insight to bridge individuals' environmental value-action gap; and
- 4. Challenges of NGO in upscaling sustainability effort in the long-run

First, traditional community programs are less effective in wide spreading long-term behavioural and motivational changes at individuals' level. In contrast, community organizations should explore more innovative, action-oriented, learner-centered, learning approaches to build capacity of community members and thus further scale up the impact (Jónsdóttir, 2019; Tilbury & Wortman, 2008). In light of limited civic action and community participation in decision marking (Thoresen et al., 2015), this thesis would like to explore the effectiveness of different pedagogical approaches and enabling conditions through the single case study of SOEL, which attempted to disrupt the current structural and cultural barriers that encourage unsustainable practices (Alam, 2022; Lotz-Sisitka et al., 2017).

Second, research showed that the general public, especially in Asia, neither have the appropriate knowledge or skill set in practicing sustainable diets, nor bottom-up opportunities to engage in co-creation of SFS (Jurgilevich et al., 2016; Sijtsema et al., 2020a). Grounded by heavy meat consumption culture, over-reliance on food import, and food waste culture (K. S. Ho & Chu, 2019), Hong Kong will be a highly relevant research location to start with.

Third, there is still insufficient academic insight on how we should overcome individual and cultural barriers that segregate environmental awareness from actual behaviour (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002). Most of the studies on environmental value-action gaps are western-based, and there is limited exploration towards the impact of social and external factors on personal environmental value, especially in the context of food system-related behaviour (K. Lee, 2010). Therefore, different types of value and behavioural intervention strategies are highly recommended (Yip & Fielding, 2017).

Lastly, despite proof of the strong role of NGO in community capacity and resilience building, there are still challenges in sustaining engagement with citizens and scaling up the impact in the long-run (Fraser et al., 2006; Okvat & Zautra, 2011). It is recommended to first understand

what the motivation and barrier of long-term civil participation are then coming up with relative strategies (Okvat & Zautra, 2011).

1.3. Research objectives

As such, this thesis aims to fill the above literature gaps by presenting the case study of SOEL in Hong Kong, which has empowered individuals and communities to collectively contribute to a SFS in the long-run through various learning processes (Choi, 2015). By studying the effectiveness of the community education model on individuals' environmental values regarding a SFS, it is expected to give insight on effective and innovative ways of community education and engagement model that can positively develop individuals' knowledge, attitude and behaviour in co-creating a SFS.

1.4. Main research question and sub-questions

The main research question is -

- What is the effectiveness of School of Everyday Life's community education model on enhancing individuals' environmental value towards a sustainable food system in Hong Kong?

The sub-questions are-

- **RQ1:** What are the key learning approaches of SOEL's community education model in nurturing community's environmental value towards SFS in Hong Kong?
- **RQ2:** How do learners' environmental values (knowledge, attitude, behaviour) regarding SFS change as a result of engaging in SOEL's community education?
- **RQ3:** What are the existing challenges and future opportunities to further scale up the impact of SOEL's community education in driving a SFS?

1.5. Thesis structure

This thesis will follow the below structure -

Chapter two critically studies the existing literatures on community education for sustainability. Specially, it examines the unique enabling approaches and conditions that enhance personal environmental value and drive effective community engagement. It also reviews theories that define environmental value and investigates relationship between knowledge, attitude and behaviour. The final section of chapter two introduces the conceptual framework of this thesis, which summarizes the proposed relationship between various conditions of community education model of SOEL and environmental value of a SFS.

Chapter three outlines the methodological and research approach for this thesis. First, it introduces and justifies the methodologies chosen, namely (1) a single case study of SOEL, (2) document analysis and (3) qualitative interview. It then details an operationalization of the studied independent variable (i.e. community education model of SOEL) and dependent variable (i.e. environmental value of a SFS). Lastly, it elaborates the potential challenges and limitation of the methodologies selected.

Chapter four therefore presents the combined results and findings of the case study, document analysis, and especially qualitative interviews. Herein, unique enabling conditions of SOEL's community education model are introduced for enhancing individual's environmental value of

SFS in Hong Kong. In a final step, we then reflect and discuss on the expected and unexpected results and findings.

Last but not least, chapter five provides a summary and conclusions of the result of this thesis, sharing the key insights and providing recommendations for future researches and supporting the development of community education model for transitions towards SFS in the long-run.

Chapter 2: Literature review and hypotheses

This chapter will first study existing literatures on community education model, and selective learning approaches that SOEL has adopted, namely transformative learning, experiential learning, social learning and empowerment through volunteering. Then it will research on theories of environmental value as a complex formulation of knowledge, attitude, behaviour, in the context of driving sustainable food transition. A conceptual framework will be presented to anticipate the positive association between community education and environmental values towards a SFS.

2.1. Education for Sustainable Development (ESD)

UNESCO defines ESD as a key element of quality education that "enhances the cognitive, socio-emotional and behavioural dimensions of learning" through building the necessary knowledge, value, and skills to tackle interlinked global challenges (UNESCO, 2023, p.1). ESD, or interchangeably EFS, is also defined academically as approaches to empower individuals to "critique status-quo values and social norms and to adopt sustainable principles and ethics by addressing unsustainable practices" (Rodríguez Aboytes & Barth, 2020, p.996). It envisions individual learning, cultural and institutional change for nurturing sustainable ways of living (Thoresen et al., 2015; WCU, 2011).

As pro-environmental attitude and behaviour are the pre-requisites for sustainability transitions, education plays a significant role in equipping people, especially the young generation, with necessary knowledge and attitude (Mihăilă et al., 2022). Nonetheless, global study has found that nearly 80% of the formal education curriculum in Asia countries have very minimal or no reference to climate change (UNESCO, 2021) [Figure 1]. 48% these contents mainly apply through cognitive learning, while overlooking the potentials of social, emotional and behavioural learning (UNESCO, 2020a). Considering such challenge, UNESCO has established the ESD for 2030 Roadmap to guide the design and execution of education with five priority actions (UNESCO, 2020a) [Figure 2]. Still, several empirical studies have pointed out the limitations of ESD at existing formal education settings, namely (1) academic focus on economic growth instead of sustainability, (2) lack of transformative learning approach to make learners feel significant to make an impact, (3) lack of empowerment to motivate learners taking proactive roles in the learning process (Lapayese, 2003; Li et al., 2018; McFarlane & Ogazon, 2011; Rodríguez Aboytes & Barth, 2020).

Given the urgency of leveraging education to address climate change, there has been a emerging trend where bottom-up organizations explore the adoption of community-based education, which help shift the conventional top-down approach to a new interactive learning model (Li et al., 2018). As actual regime change involves the transition of practices, the grassroot network is important to facilitate such change through scaling up new practices (Pesch et al., 2019). Further research is recommended to study application and synergies of transformative, innovative learning approach to other social and cultural context, for nurturing individuals' environmental value on SD empowered by social network and connections (Bryant et al., 2021; Luo et al., 2015).

Southern Asia	0% 0%				
Eastern and South- Eastern Asia	15% 8%	23%	549	%	
Europe and Northern America	0% 0%	40%		60%	
Latin America and the Caribbean	10%	3	9% 48%		
Northern Africa and Western Asia	6% 0%				81%
Oceania	0%	25%			75%
Sub-Saharan	0% No focus	26%	mal Mi	55% nimal	Moderat
	0% No focus	Very Minir	mal Mi	nimal	Moder

Figure 1. Percentage of climate change content in national education curriculum frameworks (UNESCO, 2021)



(UNESCO, 2020a)

2.2. Community education model: State of the Art

On the other hand, community education, or interchangeably CBL is an open-ended, nonformal process that aspires to "equip community members with the necessary knowledge, insight and skills to function optimally in the community" (Engelbrecht, 2005, p.144), with the end goal to build an equal relationship between education and community. In the early 90s, scholars Schenck and Louw reinforced that the spirit of community education is the peoplecentred paradigm that empower people to share knowledge, skills, and learn collectively through discourse and participatory process (Schenck & Louw, 1995). As "people" is the key element that drives effective practices among social groups, community education is deemed a more engaging and direct way to facilitate the ongoing learning process through exchange of information and experiences for problem solving (Pahl-Wostl & Hare, 2004). Different researchers have their own approach in conceptualizing key elements of community education, such as participation, empowerment, social capital etc.. (Engelbrecht, 2005; Schenck & Louw, 1995); meanwhile, the UNESCO Institute for Lifelong Learning has established a framework for CBL in recent year for communities to foster active citizenship and ownership in contributing to SD, with the six key action principles- (1) responding, (2) engaging, (3) enabling, (4) embedding, (5) sustaining, (6) transforming (UNESCO, 2017) [Figure 3].

Various studies show that the elements of capacity building and empowerment are most effective ways to enhance well-being of the community and pursue SD in the long-run (Abiddin et al., 2022; Nikkhah & Redzuan, 2010). According to UNDP, capacity building is defined as a transformative process of developing individual's or community's ability, skills and knowledge to address development needs (UNDP, 2015), which can be strengthened through education, skill training and organizational support (Frankish, 2003; Nikkhah & Redzuan, 2010). If thoughtfully designed, a more democratic co-creation process should motivate community members to challenge existing practices and explore viable alternatives. Different case studies from the West have demonstrated benefits of civic engagement in shifting power structure bottom-up practices (Fraser et al., 2006; Pesch et al., 2019). Co-creation and co-ownership driven by community engagement facilitates the process of knowledge sharing and transfer while enhancing public awareness on sustainability issues and social cohesion (Petroniene & Juzelėnienė, 2022).



Figure 3. Six action principles and four policy support mechanisms for community-based learning guided by UNESCO (UNESCO, 2017)

Different community organizations adopt different learning approaches of community education model for ESD. The following sections will further study existing academic literature of key learning processes that constitute SOEL's community education model, based on the framework established from Rodríguez Aboytes & Barth (2020):

Element of analysis	Learning process adopted by SOEL	
Learning process	2.2.1. Transformative learning	
(i.e. how people learn)	2.2.2 Experiential learning	
	2.2.3. Social learning	
	2.2.4. Empowerment through volunteering	

Table 1. Element of analysis for SOEL's community education model

2.2.1. Transformative learning (TL)

The pedagogies of TL shifts from conventional knowledge transmission to emancipatory education, which focuses on the circular nature of learning and critical perspective transformation for adoption of new behaviour (Alam, 2022; Bryant et al., 2021). It was first introduced by Mezirow, who advocated the importance to disorient and challenge people's existing frame of reference that may delimit their understanding of the world (Mezirow, 2003; Rodríguez Aboytes & Barth, 2020).

Through sharing unfamiliar theoretical and practical content, under both unintended and structured situations, learners may receive information which conflicts with their prior understanding of a subject matter (Alam, 2022). For instance, showing how McDonald's burger was made of highly processed "pink slime" would surprise and even disguise the general population, provoking their critical reflection of what they eat and how food is produced in the urbanized environment (Bobo & Chakraborty, 2015). Further facilitated by social interaction and action-oriented engagement, TL envisions to trigger discourse of sustainability-related knowledge and perception, and conflicting resolution process (Alam, 2022; Rodríguez Aboytes & Barth, 2020).

This thesis will later share more what kind of content and approach SOEL shares to reshape learners' understanding about SFS in Hong Kong and worldwide.

2.2.2. Experiential learning (EL)

EL was first introduced in the 80s that emphasizes on application of academic knowledge to direct sense of experience or experiment, contrasting with classroom learning (Keeton & Tate, 1978). Kolb's EL framework has laid out the key steps in developing a cycle of critical thinking, through reflection on the experience, conceptualization, and application (Heinrich et al., 2015; Kolb, 1984). It entails opportunities for hands-on experience with sustainable practices and behaviours, and at a higher level, empowers community members to engage in decision-making process and organizing initiatives (Alam, 2022). For instance, through engaging community member with urban farming, cooking and exploring new receipts of plant-based diets, people are empowered to apply and advance their knowledge and skillsets to develop sustainable practices in iterative cycles (Maher & Burkhart, 2017). EL is regarded as one of the effective pedagogies to equip citizens skillsets to approach complex urban and environmental problems (Goralnik & Nelson, 2014).

2.2.3. Social Learning (SL)

The development of social learning theory (SLT) can be categorized into three phrases. The classic school of thought was grounded by cognitive psychology, dated back to 1977, Bandura first proposed that individual behavioural change can also be impacted by social norms (Bandura & Walters, 1977). The second phrase comes in at 90s when organizational learning

was studied and academics explored how organization members learn and adapt through collective learning (Flood, 1999; Senge, 1990). The most recent development of SLT was put forward by Wildemeersch to put emphasis on ecological or natural resource management, which deemed to be the most effective to transform conventional worldview by empowering people to envision new pathways towards sustainability (Thoresen et al., 2015). Under this school of thought, SL in the context of sustainability, can be defined as approaches that strengthen collective learning processes among an interdisciplinary and diverse group of community members, to explore new ways to address threats for socio-ecological systems (Garmendia & Stagl, 2010).

Social learning is proved to drive cultural shift through mindset and behavioural intervention towards sustainable urban development (UNESCO, 2020b). There will be a circular loop of individual cognitive gain through engaging in collective activities, while giving feedback to strengthened social interactions between community members, redefining their roles and fostering exchange of knowledge and practices (Loorbach et al., 2017; Lotz-Sisitka et al., 2017). Various studies also demonstrated that an aligned organizational culture with long-term orientation and positive reputation will further motivate people to pursue sustainable practices collectively (Davis et al., 2018; Kucharska & Kowalczyk, 2019; Miska et al., 2018).

2.2.4. Empowerment through volunteering

Grounded by non-profit nature, community organizations often face operational challenges, such as lack of funding support and human resources that diminish their effectiveness and efficiency in fostering sustainable urban development (Abiddin et al., 2022). To sustain the engagement and operation of community organizations in long-run, engaging volunteers from the community in the participatory process would indeed help optimize social capital and develop strong leadership (Okvat & Zautra, 2011).

Multiple empirical studies have reinforced the importance of volunteerism in nurturing positive attitude towards sustainability, strengthen social learning of like-minded people and driving longer term engagement (Bhiri et al., 2004; Haigh, 2006). It is one of the key conditions for an effective learning community where volunteers can apply and refine their knowledge and skills as both learners and teachers (Thoresen et al., 2015). The UN has also stressed that when volunteerism is effectively managed and properly supported, volunteer can indeed help connect with marginalized and disadvantaged groups in the communities and make tangible contribution towards SD (United Nations, 2022). However, there are still lack of case studies of effective volunteer management that can achieve capacity building in the long-run (Bhiri et al., 2004). This thesis aims at reveal how SOEL attracts and sustains volunteers, especially young adults from the community, in supporting their vision in driving SD.

In summary, with the right design and execution of innovative learning approaches, community education serves to bridge the gaps of formal education setting in acquiring community the necessary knowledge and mindset. The next section will detail the academic definition of environmental value (namely the formulation from knowledge, attitude and behaviours) in the context of SFS.

2.3. Environmental value of sustainable food system (SFS)

To conduct a holistic review on the dependent variable "environmental value of SFS", this section will first examine empirical literatures on the concept of environmental value, followed

by a short research on the notion of SFS, then a combined elaboration of the three key components – knowledge, attitude and behaviours towards SFS.

Environmental value

The concept of environmental value was introduced and studied under the scientific field of environmental psychology, which aims to examine the relationship between human beings' mind and behaviour, with our natural environment (Mihăilă et al., 2022). There have been several scholars establishing different models of environmental value that explore the interconnectedness of different components, namely knowledge, attitude and behaviour (Mihăilă et al., 2022). Earlier models inclined to explain the relationship in a more linear or simplified approach, for instance, Gray (1985) attempted to define ecological attitudes as a combined interpretation of individual personality and behaviours (Gray et al., 1985). Recent authors further developed models based on the complex relationship between different factors, such as personal attitude, interest, childhood experience with the nature, social norm etc.. (Ilut, 2004; Torkar et al., 2020). It is also suggested that social and cultural traits, such as peer influence, also play a significant role in forming different individual and collective values towards our environment (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1977; Johnson et al., 2004; Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002).

This thesis will define environmental value with three main components- (1) knowledge, (2) attitude, and (3) behaviour, in the context of SFS. Such composition was first introduced from the theory of reasoned action in 1980, which proposed that behaviours are formulated based on individual factual knowledge that further develop an attitude, also from social and moral values formed by the society (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1977) [Figure 4]. In the context of pro-environmental consciousness, Kollmuss & Agyeman (2002) has developed Ajzen & Fishbein's theory with consideration of potential barriers from internal and external factors, which suggested the complexity and non-linear relationship between different drivers, also the reasons for value-action gaps of pro-environmental behaviour (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002) [Figure 5].

Table 2 shows a table of general definition for the three main components of environmental value, where later section will offer a specific definition in the context of SFS.





Figure 5. Model of pro-environmental behaviour

(Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002)

Component of environmental value	General definition from literatures(Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002; Mihăilă et al., 2022)		
1) Knowledge	 Individual is aware of and understand the causes and impacts of the environmental problems Individual understands how to lower his/ her impacts on the environmental problems 		
2) Attitude	 Individual feels environmentally responsible Individual feels he/ she can make a positive impact towards the environmental problems 		
3) Behaviour	- Individual invests time, effort or money to act or nurture habits in daily life to reduce his/ her impacts on the environmental problem		

Table 2. General definition of knowledge, attitude, and behaviour as key components of environmental values(Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002; Mihăilă et al., 2022)

The below section will first examine the concept of SFS then detail the definition and context of "environmental value towards SFS".

Sustainable Food System (SFS)

According to FAO, a SFS can be defined as a food system that delivers "food security and nutrition for all in such a way that the economic, social and environmental bases to generate food security and nutrition for future generations are not compromised" (FAO, 2018, p.1) [Figure 6]. The ongoing industrialization of food in the past decades has resulted in emerging environmental and health risk, such as increasing GHGE, stretched food supply chain and security, loss of farmers' bargaining power etc. (Spaargaren et al., 2013).

From a lifecycle point of view, we can break down the existing challenges of SFS into 3 stages: (1) food production, (2) food consumption and (3) food waste management and prevention. First, industrialized agriculture and livestock industry result in biodiversity loss and environmental degradation (Tang & Sobko, 2019; Yip & Fielding, 2017); second,

unsustainable food consumption pattern is nurtured by globalization of food supply chain, which in turns accounts for huge GHGE; lastly, a desperate amount of unnecessary food surplus is produced throughout the whole food supply chain (Jurgilevich et al., 2016). Therefore, there is an increasing need to transform our existing social practice of food production, consumption and food waste reduction, which in turn will contribute to a sustainable global food network and system (Jurgilevich et al., 2016; Spaargaren et al., 2013).





(FAO, 2018)

Environmental value of SFS

With the above understanding and examination on environmental value, and SFS separately, this thesis aims to draw connections between the two concepts and offer specific definition for environmental value of SFS with elaboration [Table 3].

Component of environmental value	Specific definitions for "environmental value of SFS" developed from relevant literatures			
	(do Canto et al., 2021; Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002; Mihăilă et al., 2022; Muranko et al., 2018)			
(1) Knowledge towards SFS	 Individual is aware of and understand the causes and impacts of an unsustainable food system Individual understands alternative ways to lower his/ her environmental impact on the wider food systems 			
(2) Attitude towards SFS	 Individual feels environmentally responsible to contribute to a SFS Individual feels he/ she can make a positive impact towards a SFS 			
(3) Behaviour towards SFS	 Individual invests time, effort or money to act or nurture habits in daily life to reduce his/ her impacts on the food system from (1) food production, (2) food consumption, (3) food waste reduction perspectives Individual invests time, effort or money to participate, engage or lead relevant activities that support the development of a SFS Individuals invests time, effort or money to pursue other non-food-related environmental behaviour such as recycling, reduce use of plastic etc. 			

 Table 3. Specific definitions for "environmental value of SFS" developed from relevant literatures

(do Canto et al., 2021; Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002; Mihăilă et al., 2022; Muranko et al., 2018)

2.3.1 Knowledge towards SFS

Due to the complex interdependency between consumers' diet pattern and climate change, majority of the population are not aware of the impact human beings imposed on the food system, or the wider environment, let alone of the motivation to change their behaviour (de Boer et al., 2016). Knowledge is the first key internal factor to nurture further environmental consciousness and draw emotional connection with the food system, yet existing knowledge or values may hinder the development of new knowledge and perception (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002). In general, national government, industries players, environmental NGOs haven't been acting enough to inform consumer about the causes and impacts of an unsustainable food system, and what could be the alternative options and the corresponding benefits towards climate change mitigation (de Boer et al., 2016). Various studies, for instance, have advised the urge to enhance Hong Kong population' awareness on the importance of changing their diets towards a SFS (de Boer et al., 2016; Tang & Sobko, 2019; Yau et al., 2018; Yip & Fielding, 2017).

2.3.2 Attitude towards SFS

Attitude links to individual's intrinsic motivation, personality and personal worldview towards the environment, which can be defined as the level of environmental responsibility and confidence in making positive impact towards a SFS (Mihăilă et al., 2022). There are several factors hindering the development of building positive attitude towards a SFS. For instance, the lack of incentives or motivation explains the prominent gap between one's knowledge on sustainability and actual pro-environmental behaviour (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002). People who have strong egoistic value and focus heavily on his or her own interest, achievement, benefits are more less likely to connect themselves with the environment (Prakash et al., 2019).

Social influence that forms a certain form of social normal belief is also proved to be a crucial factor on individual's perception (Wang & Lin, 2017).

Studies have shown that there is a lack of awareness among Hong Kong population regarding their shared responsibility of contributing to a sustainable development of the ecosystem (Warren-Rhodes & Koenig, 2001), or some feel their individual contribution is indeed insignificant to the wider system (Chung & Leung, 2007b; Mihăilă et al., 2022). As engaging end-consumers is one of the most challenging stages in transiting to a SFS, understanding their intrinsic motivation and willingness, and make the transition attractive is a vital step to address lock-in in cultural context (do Canto et al., 2021).

2.3.3. Behaviour towards SFS

Based on different theories of environmental values, pro-environmental behaviours are regarded as the non-linear outcome of all the abovementioned components and factors. Behaviours related to SFS could refer to how individuals act to reduce his or her environmental impacts in food production, consumption, or food waste reduction process, or how individuals engage, support or lead activities that promote the building of SFS (do Canto et al., 2021).

Cases demonstrate that despite high awareness or knowledge, there are always tensions and gaps with actual behaviour (Higgins, 2013; Szerszynski, 2007). The extent of behavioural change also depends on the historical sustainability value of individuals, nature of community involvement, cohesiveness of community organization and the nature of organizations (Middlemiss, 2011). It is recommended to construct positive feedback loops for value creation and circular behavioural change, where end-consumers are highly educated, engaged and skilled to reduce environmental impact through shifting to more sustainable practices and low-carbon options, such as taking protein alternatives, consuming locally made products, reducing and upcycling food waste, innovating bio-degradable products etc.. (de Boer et al., 2016; do Canto et al., 2021) [Figure 7].

As engaging in sustainable food behaviour involves trade-off from convenience, time, or cost for consumers, we need strategic approach to support and motivate them to shift behaviour without sacrificing their own priorities (do Canto et al., 2021). Currently most research on sustainable food behaviour focus on Western world instead of emerging economies, population from Asia in particular, lack knowledge to pursue these behaviours (do Canto et al., 2021). Later section of this thesis will study how community education can cultivate a social culture for community members to experiment and practice circular food behaviour in long-run.



Figure 7. Transition towards circular food behaviours: three types of behaviours and their characteristic (do Canto et al., 2021)

2.4. Summary and Conclusion

In summary, environmental values of SFS are outcomes of ideas and beliefs that constructed by mainly family and education system (Savelyeva, 2022), and grounded based on a knowledge-attitudes-behaviour hierarchy (Bandura, 1978; Campbell, 1963; Kraus, 1995). They can also be shaped by community education model that entails effective learning processes. In terms of learning process,

- 1) Transformative learning can feed new information that challenge learners' current worldview and build in new knowledge of SFS;
- 2) Experiential learning empowers learners to apply, experiment, and innovate skillsets in iterative cycles that advanced their knowledge and behaviours;
- 3) Social learning leverages on the collective power of community members and cultivate a positive culture to scale-up sustainable practices in the food arena;
- 4) Empowering volunteers to co-create the planning and organization of community initiatives as a participatory process can foster sustainable food practices and give them sense of achievement, building positive values towards their contribution.

While sustainability transition requires innovation and multi-disciplinary participatory process to address lock-in in social and cultural context (Loorbach et al., 2017), it is still highly uncommon to engage citizens in the co-creation of SFS (Sijtsema et al., 2020b). In order to bridge the value-action gap, many psychological and external barriers must be overcome. This can possibly be achieved by exploring effective communication education model to strengthen social support and civic engagement through transforming the social norms (Gifford, 2011; Steg & Vlek, 2009).

2.5. Conceptual Framework

Environmental value of a SFS can be conceptually broken down into three components, knowledge, attitude, behaviour [Figure 8]. The learning process adopted by SOEL's community education model discussed in section 2.1 are factors that determine the level of change in individuals' environmental value of a SFS, as the outcome.



Figure 8. Conceptual framework

2.5.1. Outcome

The outcome can be conceptualized as a complex interaction between the three componentsknowledge, attitude, and behaviour (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002; Mihăilă et al., 2022). Knowledge regarding the SFS will serve as a key foundation to understand the root causes and impacts of unsustainable food practices, and what could be the alternative options, that further drive attitudes. When one feels environmentally responsible and significant to make an impact towards the food system, they are more inclined to change their behaviour towards a SFS (de Boer et al., 2016). Mindset and behavioural intervention about SFS may also have potential positive spill over effect towards other pro-environmental knowledge or behaviour (de Boer et al., 2016).

2.5.2. Learning process (of independent variables)

The design of community education model cited as further strengthening individuals' environmental knowledge, willingness and building up pro-environmental behaviour in a consistent manner that contribute to a SFS in the long-run (Chung & Lo, 2004; Jones & Dunlap, 2010; Vencatasawmy et al., 2000). The presence and application of each learning process will affect the overall level of effectiveness of the community education model, which in terns will affect the extent of changes in environmental values of SFS, meanwhile it is assumed that other internal factors such as family influence, personal academic or professional background may hinder or strengthen such association (Savelyeva, 2022).

Transformative learning

It is expected that the adoption of TL approach, with the planning and execution of community initiatives that focuses on action-oriented engagement and disorientation dilemma will

positively enhance learners' knowledge and perception on their relationship with food, ecosystem and the world (Alam, 2022; Rodriguez-Labajos, 2022). It can be delivered in diverse forms and approaches, such as project-based, use of art medium, inter-disciplinary learning environment etc. that helps to facilitate the change of perception about SFS (Heras et al., 2021).

Experiential learning

The more the opportunities given to learners to apply, validate and experiment their knowledge in iterative cycles with hands-on experience, the more they can advance their skillset and capacity in driving sustainable food system with small-scale experiment or changes in food consumption, production, or waste pattern should be encouraged (de Boer et al., 2016) It is a very effective way of capacity building and enhancing community resilience (Abiddin et al., 2022).

Social learning

A supportive social network with positive, encouraging atmosphere in the community helps cultivate sense of social responsibility, intrinsic motivation, and enhance their confidence in making an impact towards SFS, regardless of the scale of the actions. Social influence plays a key role in reshaping the social culture especially among the younger generations (Liu et al., 2020; Tamar et al., 2020; Wang & Lin, 2017)

Empowerment through volunteering

The more the empowerment given to learners to engage in co-creation or decision-making of community initiatives or programmes that foster a SFS, the stronger the sense of achievement and belongings nurtured to motivate learners to advance their skillsets and scale up their behaviours or influence that drive a SFS collectively within the social network and community (Thoresen et al., 2015).

Chapter 3: Research design, methodology

3.1. Introduction & justification of research design and methods

The objective of this study is to evaluate the effectiveness of SOEL's community education model on enhancing participants' environmental value towards SFS. As construction of one's environmental value is a complex process related to the human and social world, where knowledge, attitude, and behaviour and other external factors are strongly independent with one another (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002; Malina et al., 2011), this research will adopt a qualitative case study method to gain contextually rich data and generate holistic insight on the main research question (Bernard et al., 2016; B. Lee et al., 2007). A tripartite data collection method is deployed, including (1) a single case study of SOEL, (2) qualitative document analysis and (3) semi-structure qualitative interview, to ensure high reliability and validity of analysis result (Broadbent & Unerman, 2011) [Table 4].

To help respondents to reflect and quantify the actual changes in their environmental values before and after joining SOEL, a pre-defined typology for the concept of knowledge, attitude, behaviour were presented with a likert-scale in the interview questions, so that the result can be used for a paired sample t-test to analyse whether the changes in the level of these three components are statistically significant (Smith, 2015). This gives a more objective, credible and valid analysis to support and complement the qualitative interpretation of the interview responses.

The strength of this research lies on the qualitative analysis of respondents' perception that are mainly based on the interviews conducted with SOEL's volunteers, employees and founders, who could give valuable insight on their journey to reconnect with the food system and pursue a more sustainable lifestyle.

Methodologies	Study subject	Data collection	Data analysis
1.Single case study of SOEL	 Vision/ mission of SOEL Scope of service delivery Target audience 	 Official website SOEL's social media 	Qualitative analysis on learning process adopted by SOEL
2. Qualitative document analysis	 Previous community events organized Milestone of SOEL along its establishment 	8 Hong Kong's magazine articles on SOEL community education model from 2014-2019	
3. Semi-structured qualitative interviews	 Change in participants/ volunteers, employee's environmental value towards SFS (Knowledge, attitude, behaviour) Challenges and opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact 	Qualitative interview with 22 respondents 45 minutes to one hour each • 2 founders • 5 employees • 15 participants/ volunteers	A paired sample t-test to analyze likert-scale of the change in environmental value using STATA Thematic/ coding analysis from qualitative responses using Atlas.ai

Table 4. A summary of research approach

3.2. Data collection

Semi-structured interviews are conducted with a total of 22 respondents (including two founders, 15 volunteer and 5 employees of SOEL). For the two founders, the interview mainly focuses on their rationale of establishing SOEL, challenges and opportunities of educating the general public and younger generation about SFS thus the importance of sustainable lifestyle. Meanwhile, for the rest of the 20 respondents, they are the "learners" who were asked to reflect the changes in environmental values towards SFS after they join SOEL in short- and long-term. Qualitative interview guides and questions were first designed in English and later translated to traditional Chinese in early April. Interview questions were sent 1-2 days to the interviewees prior to the interview were conducted through Google meet and only audio was being recorded with a separate digital device. Sample size is based on 10% of the population size [Table 5], and eligible interviewees were invited based on personal network from first-hand volunteering experience in SOEL.

Categories of interviewees	Population	Number of interviewees	
1. Active participants/ volunteers in SOEL	Around 140	15	
2. SOEL's employee	15	5	
3. Founder of SOEL	3	2	
Total		22	

 Table 5. Categories of interviewees

3.3. Data analysis methodology

Through single case study, document analysis and interviews, the community learning process, and its effectiveness of changing community's environmental values towards SFS is studied from different perspectives. A total of 22 qualitative interviews were transcribed and coded using ATLAS.ai. First, analysis was first done with inductive coding, as a bottom-up data-driven approach to create thematic codes based on raw transcription. As patterns emerge along with the data analysis process, deductive coding was then adopted based on the predetermined set of codes. New codes were also created if unexpected insight is identified from the transcription. At the later stage of analysis, codes were grouped further under relevant variables.

In parallel, for the likert-scale result obtained from the qualitative interviews, the level of knowledge, attitude and behaviour of individuals before and after joining SOEL are manually input into excel and bar charts are generated to learn about the high-level change in volunteers and employee's environmental values. Paired sample t-tests are also conducted to analyse the statistical significance on the level of change (Smith, 2015). Yet, since this thesis will not conduct any regression analysis that demonstrates statistical relationship between independent and dependent variables, qualitative analysis is the key method to ensure validity and reliability of the result and further understand the social and cultural context of the case.

At last, few categories of insights are identified- (1) Reasons behind the level of knowledge, attitude, and behaviour towards SFS at different stages, (2) the enabling conditions that results in changes of environmental values towards SFS after joining SOEL, (3) current challenges and future opportunities of SOEL to scale-up its impact to drive SFS, which directly address the main and sub-research questions of this thesis.

3.4. Expected challenges and limitation of data

A handful of limitations must be addressed for the research design of this thesis. First, since this is a single case study of SOEL in Hong Kong, the result is bounded by cultural and social context, which wouldn't be representative enough to conclude the necessary enabler for an effective community education model that enhance one's environmental value of a SFS. Effectiveness may vary across geographical and cultural context.

Despite following the 10% sampling rules, the sample size of the qualitative interviews is still relatively small. Volunteers and employee from SOEL who were willing to take up the interviews are usually people who have pro-environmental worldview or less egoistic value, which means that the sample may discriminate the other spectrum of people by nature, for instance, participants who have joined SOEL for once but were not impressed and didn't further engage with SOEL.

During the qualitative interviews, respondents were also asked to rate their level of understanding, attitude and behaviour towards SFS based on the set definition, yet the self-evaluation could be subjective. They may feel obliged or ethically responsible to answer positive changes as a result of engaging in SOEL for a long period of time. The result may not reflect the extend of actual effectiveness of SOEL's community education model in nurturing environmental value towards SFS.

Also, since the target group of SOEL tend to be young adults aged 18-35, the result leans towards common patterns from younger generation, lacking insight on how community organizations should engage people from different demographics backgrounds and the corresponding potential challenges of nurturing environmental values towards SFS among them.

Independent variable: School of Everyday Life (SOEL)'s community education model							
Sub-variable	Description	Indicator	Source of variable	Data source			
Learning process adopted by SOEL	Transformative learning	The practical content, knowledge, activities related to SFS delivered by SOEL to SOEL's participants, volunteers, or employees	(Rodríguez Aboytes & Barth, 2020; Bryant et al., 2021)	Case study and document analysis on learning			
	Experiential learning	Opportunities to gain hands-on experience related to food production, consumption, waste reduction through applying with practices while engaging with SOEL	components of a learning model (learning process, learning conditions, learning outcomes) with priori	process adopted by SOEL (Methodology 1&2) Qualitative interview to examine the changes in respondents' environmental value towards SFS and corresponding enablers			
	Social learning	Opportunities for individuals' to share perspectives, knowledge, and practice sustainable behaviours towards SFS with other learner in SOEL, in additional to an open culture to experiment new behaviours	This thesis will focus on the selected sub-variables, which				
	Empowerment through volunteering	Opportunities for individuals to co-create, contribute or lead community activities that contribute to SFS	are particularly adopted by SOEL with its own established community education model and learning approach.	(Methodology 3)			

3.5. Operationalization of key concepts and expected relationships

Dependent variable: Individuals' environmental values of a sustainable food system (SFS)						
Sub-variable	Description	Indicator	Source of variable	Data source		
1.Knowledge towards SFS	 1a. Being aware of and understand the causes and impacts of an unsustainable food <u>system</u> 1b. Being aware of and understand how to lower individuals' impacts on the food system 	1a, b. Change (before and after) in individuals' awareness and knowledge on causes, impacts of an unsustainable food system, and how to lower one's impacts on the existing system	(Kollmuss, A., & Agyeman, 2002) defined knowledge and attitude in the context of environmental value (FAO, 2018) gives definition	Qualitative Interview to understand the extent of change in individuals' environmental value after engaging in SOEL's community education model		
2.Attitude towards SFS	2a. Sense of environmental responsibility 2b. Locus on control – individuals feel significant or powerful to make a positive change	 2a. Change in individuals' sense on personal responsibility in making food system more sustainable 2b. Whether individuals feel there will be an impact from his or her own action to the wider food system 	and related concepts	(Methodology 3)		
3.Behaviour towards SFS	 3a. Adoption of sustainable food behavior 3b. Participation in or leading co- creation of sustainable food system 3c. Development of other pro- environmental behavior or habits 	 3a. Change in individuals' behavior regarding food production, consumption, food waste practices 3b. Change in individuals' engagement in community activities regarding sustainable food system 3c. Change in individuals' lifestyles and daily behavior 	(do Canto et al., 2021) summarized a wide range of sustainable food behavior from (1) food production; (2) food consumption and (3) food waste management perspectives			

Table 6. Operationalization table

Part 4. Results, analysis and discussion

This chapter will first briefly depict the current state and challenges of driving SFS in Hong Kong, especially the limitations from formal education system. Then, the chapter will structure based on the sequence of sub-research questions, first exanimating the learning process adopted by SOEL in Hong Kong in driving SFS, then evaluating the actual change in volunteers and employees' level of knowledge, attitude and behaviours towards SFS after joining SOEL and corresponding driving forces behind, lastly generating insights of current challenges and future opportunities in scaling up community education in driving SFS in Hong Kong.

This sub-chapter presents combined findings and analysis from single case study, document analysis and qualitative interviews, that build up to the main research question at chapter 1. When necessary, interviewees' responses are quoted as "R" (for SOEL's volunteers and employees) or "F" (for SOEL's founders). Further details of the interviews can be founded in Appendix 1-4.

4.1. Challenges of driving SFS in Hong Kong

Various scientific studies have concluded that the current food system is Hong Kong is highly unsustainable, in the process of production, consumption and food wate management and reduction (Tang & Sobko, 2019; Yip & Fielding, 2017). Over-reliance on import, coupled with heavy meat consumption, have contributed to 57% and 53% of total carbon footprint (CF) and water footprint (WF) of the average Hong Kong diet, which is way higher than other types of diets and cause significant environmental impacts on land use, water consumption and GHGE (Tang & Sobko, 2019; Yau et al., 2018; Yip & Fielding, 2017). Meanwhile, serious food waste problem accounts for almost one-third of the municipal solid waste in Hong Kong, contributing to more than 3,300 tonnes of food sent to landfill every day (HKEPD, 2020a, 2020b).

Nonetheless, under Kyoto Protocol, Hong Kong is not formally obliged to meet any mandatory GHGE target, therefore there hasn't been many cutting-edge agenda or progressive measures that tackle climate change, from food-agriculture domain in particular (Higgins, 2013). From the perspective of education, not until 2003 was Education for Sustainable Development Association (ESDA) established to align formal education curriculum agenda with UN's SD goals (Luo et al., 2015), yet the focus of SD in Hong Kong has been inclined towards economic development rather than striking a balance between economic, social and environmental needs (Savelyeva, 2022).

The existing formal education system are facing two key challenges in filling the knowledge gap in Hong Kong. First, Hong Kong education system is knowledge-oriented with narrow vision when it comes to the topic of food and agriculture (W. Y. Chan, 2014; Choi, 2015). There hasn't been a holistic educational strategy and comprehensive coverage on food production, consumption, food security, safety and its relations to human health and the environment, let alone any experiential or emotional learning opportunities embedded for students (F1, F2). Grounded by result- and exam-oriented culture, students aren't taught with sufficient practical life skill nor equipped with systemic worldview about the food system or the environment (W. Y. Chan, 2014). Second, due to the absence of agriculture economy and top-down food security policy to ensure local self-sufficiency (Y. W. Chan, 2016; H. T. Ho, 2020), general population are not aware of the interdependencies between food-agriculture system and their daily lives. This knowledge gap in between end-consumers and food system

has further been widened by commercial-oriented, consumerism and fast-food culture in Hong Kong (F1, F2).

Few bottom-up community organizations have emerged in recent years to build a closer connection between the general public and the food-agriculture industry through community education (Siu, 2023). These organizations adopt different engagement approaches in nurturing public environmental values but there was minimal scientific evidence on the actual effectiveness of these community education models. The following parts will focus on the single case study of SOEL, which has adopted an innovation-led empowering, participatory approach to enhance public knowledge, attitude and behaviours towards SFS.

4.2. Data analysis

4.2.1. Sub-research question 1

What are the key learning approaches of SOEL's community education model in nurturing community's environmental value towards SFS in Hong Kong?

School of Everyday Life (生活書院), a local-level NGO based in Hong Kong, was founded in 2014 by three experienced local educators. Its vision is to reconnect general public with the environment through (1) ESD, (2) life education and (3) art & culture , thus bringing positive impacts to the society (SOEL, n.d.). The objective is to cultivate a sustainable community culture through a diverse range of innovative and engaging community programme listed in table 7 (W. Y. Chan, 2014; Oriental Daily, 2014). SOEL emphasizes the interconnectedness between human beings and the environment, by offering opportunities for public to review the end-to-end process of food production, food consumption, and food waste reduction through physical and experiential learning (Eunice, 2014). SOEL's physical office also serves as a venue for community education in the neighbourhoods (W. Y. Chan, 2014).

SOEL insists in adopting some key learning approaches on nurturing public environmental value towards SFS [Photo 1-6]. In terms of learning process, transformative learning (TL) is applied to uncover the truth behind industrialized food production and provoke public reflection on their consumption pattern and corresponding environmental impact, through designing unconventional curriculum, fostering exchange between guest speaker and public, and creating interactive educational studio and discussion forum (Eunice, 2014; Tse, 2014). Participants, volunteers and employees of SOEL are also given lots of hands-on opportunities to learn about organic farming and plant-based cooking as part of the experiential learning (F1). Meanwhile, social learning is the key learning condition that SOEL embeds into every programme, which enables critical discussion, sharing of worldview and information among learners Another differentiated strategy is that SOEL founders or employees will invite any former participants to continue their engagement as a volunteer, who can contribute to the participatory process of planning, designing and executing the next cohort of community engagement programme (F1, F2).

Based on different magazine articles, these learning approaches are particularly intriguing for students and young adults, who are more engaged with interactive and fun ways of learning (Choi, 2015; Eunice, 2014). Founders of SOEL also contended that young adults have stronger self-autonomy, personal pursue, sense of environmental responsibility, and most importantly, more action-oriented when fed with the right motivation and incentives (F1).

#	Programme Name	Chinese name	Target audience	Frequency	Duration	Objectives
1	Lifewalker programme	行者班	Young adults aged 18-35	2 times a year	3 months	To boost personal development and nurture environmental value for young adults
2	Lifewalker camp	行者營	Young adults aged 18-35	Annually	3 days	through experiential and collective learning approach
3	Skill sharing workshop	技能分享	General public	Monthly	1 day	To enable sharing of life skills or practical skills amongst volunteers and community members
4	Training for educators	教師培訓	Working educational professional	Varies	1-2 day	To empower education professional to reflect and explore education of mindfulness, food-agriculture, and sustainable development
5	o Community market	市集	General public	Bi-annually	2 days	To provide a platform to connect general public with local business owner or farmers who sell local eco-friendly or organic products
	Community workshop with	同時日期丁ナンドシュキャンプチート	Specific demographics based			To cultivate a sustainable community culture through life education, education for
16	organizations or schools	團體及機構估動	on organizations' needs	Upon demand	Varies	sustainability, and art & culture

 Table 7. Overview of SOEL's community engagement programme (SOEL, n.d.)



Photo 3. Experiential learning through plant-based Ph cooking vo

Photo 4. Social learning amongst participants and volunteers



4.2.2. Sub-research question 2

How do learners' environmental values (knowledge, attitude, behaviour) regarding SFS change as a result of engaging in SOEL's community education?

A total of 20 respondents (excluding the two SOEL's founders) were interviewed to observe their change in knowledge, attitude and behaviour towards SFS after engaging with SOEL, including 5 employees and 15 volunteers (who continue their engagement after being a participant at the first time). This sub-chapter will present findings for each of the sub-variables, and examine the relationship between SOEL's community education approach and changes in environmental values.

4.2.2.1. Knowledge towards SFS

To understand the change in the level of knowledge after engaging in SOEL, the 20 interviewees were asked to evaluate their level of knowledge before and after joining SOEL, both in short-term (within a year of engagement) and long-term (more than one year of engagement), based on the provided definition in table 8.

Level of knowledge	Definition of the level of knowledge		
Level 1	No awareness, no understanding towards SFS		
Level 2	Aware, with minimal understanding towards SFS		
Level 3	Aware, with basic understanding towards SFS		
Level 4	Considerable level of understanding towards SFS		
Level 5	High level of understanding towards SFS		

Table 8. Definition of "level of knowledge" towards SFS

In summary, in the long-run, we see an upward shift of the overall level of understanding towards SFS amongst the interviewees [Figure 9]. To test whether the differences between the paired observations are normally distributed, a paired t-test is further conducted using STATA to validate whether the change in the level of understanding is statistically significant at 99% confidence interval (Smith, 2015). It takes the likert-scale of "before" and "after" (in the long-run) respondents joining SOEL. The below hypothesis is set:

Null hypothesis (H₀): There is no effect on respondents' level of <u>knowledge</u> towards SFS after they join SOEL in the long-run.

Alternative hypothesis (H_A): There is an effect on respondents' level of <u>knowledge</u> towards SFS after they join SOEL in the long-run.

From the t-test result [Figure 10], the mean score in "after" (in the long-run) (mean= 3.85, SD= 0.59) is significantly higher than that of "before" (mean= 2.1, SD= 0.79). The t-value is -9.95, the p-value is less than 0.01, therefore we can reject the null hypothesis and conclude that there is a statistically significant difference in means between the level of understanding before and after the respondents joining SOEL at 99% confidence interval.

While this high-level overview demonstrated an overall increase in the level of knowledge among the interviewees, in-depth qualitative analysis is still needed to further understand the contextual reasons behind such changes and how the changes differ for different respondents.



Figure 9. Overall level of individuals' understanding towards SFS before and after joining SOEL

. ttest KBefore == KAfter, level(99)							
Paired t test							
Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. err.	Std. dev.	[99% conf.	interval]	
KBefore	20	2.1	.1762176	.7880689	1.595853	2.604147	
KAfter	20	3.85	.1312892	.5871429	3.47439	4.22561	
diff	20	-1.75	.1758438	.7863975	-2.253078	-1.246922	
mean(diff) = mean(KBefore - KAfter) t = -9.9520							
H0: mean(diff) = 0Degrees of freedom =19							
Ha: mean(diff) < 0 Ha: mean(diff) != 0 Pr(T < t) = 0.0000 Pr(T > t) = 0.0000					Ha: mean Pr(T > t	(diff) > 0) = 1.0000	

Figure 10. A paired t-test at 99% confidence interval for level of understanding towards SFS before and after joining SOEL

Level of knowledge before joining SOEL

While respondents were asked about the reason of their self-evaluation of knowledge level before joining SOEL, majority of them expressed challenges in gaining basic understanding about food and agriculture in general. First, information obtained from textbook, mainstream media or news have constrained the depth of respondents' understanding on actual facts about the wider food system and its relevance with climate change (R1- R3, R5- R7, R12, R18) (Tse, 2014). Weak connection between the wider food system and their education, or occupational background in daily life also limits respondents' exposure and interest towards the subject matter (R1-R5, R7, R8). The consumerism culture in Hong Kong (R4, R12) and over-convenience to obtain food (R2, R6, R13, R20) have also resulted in a dearth of understanding of food supply chain among the general public (Oriental Daily, 2014).

"I only get minimal understanding about food nutrition from my high-school education, yet I am totally not familiar with in-depth knowledge about food source, production, distribution, or how our consumption pattern is impacting the environment" (R7)

In contrast, the minority of respondents who had a considerable level of understanding towards SFS generally have prior personal interest (R9, R17, R19) or related educational or professional background (R10, R11, R14) before joining SOEL. The contrasting result illustrates a general knowledge deficiency towards the food system amongst interviewees.

Level of knowledge after joining SOEL

This analysis aims to evaluate change in respondents' level of knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL based on the same scale of definition, and the corresponding enablers and examples. While all of the respondents reported an overall increase in their understanding towards SFS in the long-run, experiential learning appears to be the most effective enabler that triggers such changes. Respondents emphasized the importance of hands-on experience for them to advance their understanding towards SFS (R1, R2, R4, R6, R9- R11, R13- R20), specifically, regularly engage in local organic farming activities and preparing plant-based meals collectively with other SOEL peers are the two key activities respondents find impactful in provoking their interest and building up their knowledge in food production through iterative practices (W. Y. Chan, 2014; Choi, 2015).

"Previously I had shallow level of knowledge about food system, yet with hands-on experience helping with organic farming, and talking to Ms. Chuk the farmer, I understand more about the relationship between weather, biodiversity, and our food, also the challenges in sustaining agriculture industry." (R9)

Community and social network plays a significant role in enhancing respondents' understanding on related topics through critical discussion and information sharing among SOEL peers from interdisciplinary background (R1, R3, R4, R7- R10, R12, R13, 15). For instance, they will share where to purchase local organic products and tips of pursuing sustainable practices through social learning. Community creates a supporting system that motivate them to challenge their existing understanding towards food system and also build up a positive attitude (R4, R13-15, R18, R20) and the kind, accommodating culture of SOEL has also made them feel more encouraged to share and experiment new knowledge (R2, R5- R7, R10).
"Peer influence is important. I love being in a group and as we become friends, we encourage one another to cook and eat plant-based together." (R4)

As empowerment is a key principle of an effective community education environment (UNESCO, 2020b), respondents acknowledged the importance of volunteering opportunities where they are invited to co-create and lead certain community programmes as a participatory process that provokes their interest to advance their knowledge through self-research and group discussion (R1, R3, R4, R8, R10, R11, R13, R15, R17, R18). As taking a contributing role enhances their sense of ownership and accountability (Thoresen et al., 2015), they feel responsible to research and prepare more before leading a public activity, which further advances their knowledge towards SFS.

"As I was responsible in guiding the tour of 'Food for Life' Studio, I did more readings and research on food supply chain... such empowerment helps nurture a holistic and systemic thinking of the entire food system, and what could be the alternative options". (R17)

Transformative learning content and process is another supplementing enabler that triggers respondents' learning towards SFS. Respondents agreed that critical group discussion, and sharing from industry professional serve as a channel to build up a systemic and holistic worldview about the wider food system and their relationship with the nature, and the impact of own behaviours on climate change and environment (R1, R3-5, R8, R12, R13, R17, R20). The adoption of innovative, interactive engagement method plays a vital role in enhancing participants' knowledge, compared to the traditional one-way teaching method, which echoes with what have been studied in the literature review (Lotz-Sisitka et al., 2017; Rodríguez Aboytes & Barth, 2020).

Other factors that affect the level of knowledge

Throughout the interviews, it is also found that personal interest, an internal factor, helps motivate respondents to learn about SFS through doing researching, reading related books or news (R2, R6, R8, R12, R15-17, R19, R20) while they are engaging with SOEL. This demonstrates a feedback loop of enhancing environmental interest from exposing to more related information and activities (de Boer et al., 2016; do Canto et al., 2021). Meanwhile, SOEL has made local organic vegetables and products purchase easily accessible for the community, and served remarkably tasty plant-based meals to the community during activities, which interest learners to explore more about the role of local agriculture and alternative consumption patterns (R2, R3, R7, R16). In contrast, few respondents have shared that the challenges of further enhancing their understanding towards SFS are the lack of priority of related aspects in daily life (R1, R3, R5, R7, R16). Applying new perception or behaviours in daily life is not easy for beginners (Novacek, 2008). All these other factors have validated the complexity of environmental values that are bounded by a number of internal and external drivers and barriers (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002).

In summary, SOEL's community education model has considerably enhanced participants' and employee's understanding towards SFS with a mix of learning approaches and conditions. Deep learning has taken place through continuous exploration, critical discourse, and exchange of knowledge between participants, volunteers and employees. As knowledge serves as the pre-requisite for behaviours (Bord et al., 2000), the above analysis illustrates that SOEL lays a key foundations for learners to build up their environmental values towards SFS.

4.2.2.2. Attitude towards SFS

Attitude, or perception, is a key component of environmental value towards SFS that explains the emotional and cognitive motives behind a behaviour (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002). To understand if SOEL community education model has changed respondents' motivation, respondents were asked to evaluate their attitude before and after joining SOEL, mainly focusing on their sense of environmental responsibility and how impactful their feel about their own action towards the environment [Table 9].

Level of attitude	Definition of the level of attitude
Level 1	I didn't feel responsible nor influential in making any impact towards a sustainable food system
Level 2	I had little sense of environmental responsibility, but skeptical about the impact of my action on the wider food system
Level 3	I have some sense of environmental responsibility, and think I can only make a small impact to the wider food system
Level 4	I have fair sense of environmental responsibility and think I can make some impact to the wider food system
Level 5	I have strong sense of environmental responsibility and believe I can make a significant impact to the wider food system

Table 9. Definition of "level of attitude" towards SFS

Overall, all respondents record a positive build-up of attitude after joining SOEL in the longrun, which imply a considerable sense of environmental responsibility and feel that their actions have certain positive impact towards SFS [Figure 11]. Again, a pair t-test is conducted to analyse the statistical significance at 99% confidence interval on respondents' attitude before and after joining SOEL. The below hypothesis is set:

Null hypothesis (H₀): There is no effect on respondents' <u>attitude</u> towards SFS after they join SOEL in the long-run.

Alternative hypothesis (H_A): There is an effect on respondents' <u>attitude</u> towards SFS after they join SOEL in the long-run.

From the t-test result [Figure 12], the mean score in "after" (in the long-run) (mean= 4.1, SD= 0.64) is significantly higher than that of "before" (mean= 2.35, SD= 0.93). The t-value is -8.6, the p-value is less than 0.01, therefore we can reject the null hypothesis and conclude that there is a statistically significant difference in means between the level of attitude before and after the respondents joining SOEL at 99% confidence interval. This demonstrates an overall positive shift in the belief of making a contribution as an end-consumer. Further qualitative analysis will be followed to reveal the contextual reasons behind these changes at different stages.



Figure 11. Overall level of individuals' attitude towards SFS before and after joining SOEL in short-term and long-term

. ttest ABefore == AAfter, level(99)						
Paired t test						
Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. err.	Std. dev.	[99% conf.	interval]
ABefore	20	2.35	.2086927	.933302	1.752944	2.947056
AAfter	20	4.1	.1432701	.6407233	3.690114	4.509886
diff	20	-1.75	.2035863	.9104655	-2.332447	-1.167553
mean(diff) = mean(ABefore - AAfter) t = -8.5959						
H0: mean(diff) = 0Degrees of freedom =19						
Ha: mean(diff) < 0Ha: mean(diff) != 0Ha: mean(diff) > 0Pr(T < t) = 0.0000					(diff) > 0 :) = 1.0000	

Figure 12. A paired t-test at 99% confidence interval for level of attitude towards SFS before and after joining SOEL

Attitude towards SFS before joining SOEL

Before joining SOEL, majority of the respondents have a relatively passive or pessimistic attitude towards SFS. First, as illustrated in last section, those people who have a low level of understanding prior are unable to build up a sense of responsibility due to lack of knowledge (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002). Second, respondents feel powerless or insignificant about their own individual actions, in light of the complex global problem of climate change, which seems to be "too big" to solve (R5, R6, R13, R14, R16, R20); some feel ignorant or indifferent about related food challenges due to the weak connection or shallow understanding about the environment and climate change (R1, R3, R8, R11). In contrast, some respondents had a prior sense of responsibility driven by their own understanding, and feel ethnically responsible to stand for animal welfare or fair trade consumption (R2, R4, R6, R9, R10, R15, R17, R19). These has demonstrated a general gap in the emotional and intrinsic connection between individuals and the environment.

"Sometimes I will eat plant-based, yet I don't think I will make any significant impact or change as the problem of climate change is too complex and big." (R14)

Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL

In long-term, there is a general attitude shift among the respondents where they feel more environmentally responsible or impactful from their own action. Social learning emerges as the most significant enabler that drive such changes. Respondents asserted that the SOEL community has enhanced their sense of responsibility among like-minded peers through social influence and critical discussion, where they feel more motivated, powerful, less lonely to pursue sustainable behaviours, for instance, enjoying the fun atmosphere while preparing plant-based meals together (R2- R6, R8-R10, R12- R16, R19, R20).

"The importance of social learning is that you don't feel alone. SOEL peers share similar vision in life and very kind personality, which gives me stronger motivation to act sustainably and feel that my action is not as insignificant as I think." (R13)

Some respondents also expressed the importance of transformative learning process that help to develop the sense of responsibility and motivation towards SFS, for instance, the sharing of local farmers have provoked personal interest and reflection on how individuals can do more to contribute to SFS at personal level (R1-R3, R7, R8, R10, R11, R13, R16, R20). Video of successful case studies from a Taiwan community organization in cultivating a sustainable food-agriculture system also inspired respondents about the power of collective group. Meanwhile, experiential learning helped respondents visualize the impact of their new behaviour despite being small-scale (R1, R6, R7, R11, R12). Few respondents also felt more environmentally responsible when they are empowered to lead public events through volunteering that need to disseminate the correct knowledge and build the positive attitude among high school students (R9, R15, R17).

"When I am responsible to teach kids about the negative impact of our current diets, I need to be sincere in sharing the correct knowledge as I am given ownership. The kids turned out to be more interested in connecting with the environment, where I can feel the direct impact of my contribution." (R15)

Other factors that affect the level of attitude

Besides SOEL's learning process, respondents contended that they would have a more optimistic attitude when they witness the impact of their sustainable behaviours on family or peers around in the long-run (R7, R10, R13, R15, R19). In contrast, some respondents still feel the impact from their personal action is very small even after joining SOEL (R5, R7, R14, R15, R17, R18, R20). It is also difficult to influence how others behave, or the wider culture in Hong Kong (R2, R4, R16, R17, R20).

"At the beginning, my family doesn't care about meat consumption. One year after I joined SOEL and started eating plant-based, my family starts to follow to purchase plant-based products and reduce meat consumption together. This is an encouraging result to see." (R7)

Herein, attitudes play a key role in shaping intrinsic motivation and filling the knowledgeaction gap (Mihăilă et al., 2022). The above analysis validates that SOEL's community education model has considerably built up a positive and optimistic attitude amongst the respondents in driving a SFS, although there are still challenges to be overcome, namely external influence from family and social culture. By building up a strong community network, welcoming and encouraging culture, learners slowly build up a more optimistic attitude towards making small-scale changes in their daily food production, consumption and food waste reduction pattern.

4.2.2.3. Behaviour towards SFS

Behaviours are perceived as the key outcomes and component of environmental values, shaped by knowledge, attitude, and other factors (Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002). Behaviour towards SFS can be defined as individuals' action to reduce his/ her impact on the food system, or initiate to engage or lead relevant activities that support the development of a SFS (do Canto et al., 2021; FAO, 2018). To better illustrate, interviewees were given the below examples of sustainable behaviour towards SFS for self-evaluation [Table 10].

Aspects	Examples of behaviour contributing to a sustainable food system				
	Participate in urban farming activities				
	Use food surplus to make by-products (e.g. clothes dye)				
A. Food production	Produce food with upcycled ingredients				
	Consume locally made/ grown products				
	Support fair trade for farmers/ food producers				
	Purchase plant-based products				
	Reduce meat consumption/ Increase plant-based diets				
B. Food consumption	Reduce plastic food packaging/ nude buying				
	Purchase in reference to eco-labels				
	Reduce food consumption/ food waste				
	Recover food waste for composition				
	Reduce food waste				
C. Food waste reduction	Recycle food waste				
	Donate food waste to NGO or people in need				
	Recycle/ reuse of materials				
	Volunteer in farming or plant-based cooking activities				
D. Engaging in or leading	Engage in designing community programmes that promotes sustainable food system				
sustainable food system	Lead community education programmes that promote sustainability and pro-environment values				
	Explore alternative food/ plant-based recipe				
E. Others	Please specify:				

Table 10. Examples of sustainable behaviour that contribute to a SFS

In summary, there is an overall positive change in respondents' behaviour contributing towards SFS in the long-run [Figure 13] based on the pre-defined typology [Table 11]. Here, a pair t-test is again made to test the statistical significance at 99% confidence interval on respondents' behaviour before and after joining SOEL. The below hypothesis is set:

Null hypothesis (H₀): There is no effect on respondents' <u>behaviour</u> towards SFS after they join SOEL in the long-run.

Alternative hypothesis (H_A): There is an effect on respondents' <u>behaviour</u> towards SFS after they join SOEL in the long-run.

From the t-test result [Figure 14], the mean score in "after" (in the long-run) (mean= 3.85, SD= 0.59) is significantly higher than that of "before" (mean= 2, SD= 0.86). The t-value is -10.2, the p-value is less than 0.01, therefore we can reject the null hypothesis and conclude that there is a statistically significant difference in means between the level of behaviours before and after the respondents joining SOEL at 99% confidence interval.

This high-level overview shares similar pattern with the previous analysis, where majority of the respondents report a low level of knowledge and pessimistic attitude towards SFS before joining SOEL, implying a similar behavioural patterns. Further qualitative analysis will be followed to examine the motives behind such changes.

Level of behaviour	Definition of the level of behaviour
Level 1	I was not involve in any sustainable or pro-environmental behavior at all
Level 2	I had minimum level of pro- environmental behavior but not about SFS
Level 3	I had minimum level of behavior that contributes to SFS
Level 4	I had a considerable level of behavior that contributes to a SFS
Level 5	I had a significant level of behavior that contributes to a SFS

Table 11. Definition of "level of behaviour" towards SFS



Figure 13. Overall level of individual's behaviours towards SFS before and after joining SOEL in short- and long-term

. ttest BBefore == BAfter, level(99)						
Paired t test						
Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. err.	Std. dev.	[99% conf.	interval]
BBefore	20	2	.191943	.8583951	1.450864	2.549136
BAfter	20	3.85	.1312892	.5871429	3.47439	4.22561
diff	20	-1.85	.1817314	.8127277	-2.369922	-1.330078
mean(diff) = mean(BBefore - BAfter) t = -10.1799						
H0: mean(diff) = 0 Degrees of freedom = 19						
Ha: mean(diff) < 0 Ha: mean(diff) != 0 Ha: mean(diff) > 0					(diff) > 0	
Pr(T < t)	Pr(T < t) = 0.0000 $Pr(T > t) = 0.0000$ $Pr(T > t) = 1.0000$					

Figure 14. A paired t-test at 99% confidence interval for respondents' behaviour towards SFS before and after joining SOEL

Behaviour contributing to a SFS before joining SOEL

When respondents were asked about their daily habit before joining SOEL, they reflect that they are quite indifferent to take up any pro-environmental behaviours. Some would only focus on reducing plastic usage or do basic recycling (R3-R5, R8, R9), while some feel ignorant or significance in making any impact towards the environment (R1, R2, R8, R11). This reflects similar challenges as previous section for general public to get a deeper understanding and connection with the ecosystem around them.

"I was not too aware or motivated to take any pro-environmental behaviours, also the culture and education in Hong Kong is not encouraging any changes anyway." (R9)

Behaviour contributing to a SFS after joining SOEL

As all of the respondents recorded a change in behaviour after joining SOEL in the long-run, they have shared the types of new behaviour that they have picked up [Table 12]. Most of the respondents pursued more plant-based diets or reduce meat consumption (all except R12 and R14), similarly, they purchase organic food or eco-friendly product from local farmers and small business owners more regularly (all except R1 and R19). Meanwhile, volunteers and employees feel empowered and have engaged in co-design, planning and execution of community activities that drive SFS, such as preparing plant-based meals for public audience, being a tour guide to "Food for Life" studio for the public etc.(R1-R4, R6, R8-10, R13,, R15, R16-18, R20). Other new observed behaviours include using less plastic and avoiding purchase of packaged food (R1, R2, R4, R6, R9, R10-R12, R15, R18, R20).

New behaviour picked up by respondants in daily life that contribute to a				
sustainable food system				
Pursue plant-based diets/ reduce meat consumption	90% (18)			
Purchase local organic products/ food from SOEL's partnership with local farmers				
and small business owners	90% (18)			
As volunteers/ employee, engage in co-design and execution of community				
activities which drive SFS such as preparing plant-based meals for public				
audience, guiding tour to enhance public knowledge on SFS, support local organic				
farms	70% (14)			
Reduce use of plastic/ avoid purchase of packaged food/ avoid single-use bottle/				
bring their own bottle/ utensils/ lunchbox				
Collect, store and recycle food waste for composition (farming)				
Upcycle wasted masterials or food waste to transform into new products	25% (5)			
Encourage peers/ family around to pursue sustainable food behaviour	20% (4)			
Reduce food waste				
Purchase expired products				
Check food labells to purchase healthier products				
Recycling in general	5% (1)			

Table 12. New behaviour picked up by respondents in daily life after joining SOEL that contribute to a SFS

In light of such behavioural shift, respondents were asked about the enabling conditions behind such changes. Social learning is ranked the most important enabler as peers in the SOEL community are persistent in pursuing sustainable behaviours and sharing relevant information or tips on how to practice in daily life, which make it easier for new learners to follow and learn from the social group (R1-R5, R7, R9, R12, R13, R16-R19). Some also agreed that the value of kindness, and accommodating, open, encouraging culture of SOEL has further enhanced their sense of achievement and motivation to take up more pro-environmental behaviour despite built-in challenge to change daily habits (R1-R3, R5, R6, R10, R11, R20) (Gernert et al., 2018).

"I was used to dine-out with meat lovers. Since joining SOEL, we will purposely find a plantbased restaurant to hang-out after Lifewalker programme ends. We left no food waste, which even surprised the restaurant owners. This is the power of collective group." (R17)

Empowerment through volunteering or work also marks as a key opportunity for respondents to advance their practices in pursuing behaviour contributing to SFS, as any participants, regardless of age or backgrounds, are invited to become volunteer (R1-R4, R6, R8-R10, R13, R15-R18, R20). Next, SOEL's transformative learning approach, such as guest speakers' sharing, community market, have made related information more transparent where respondents can pick up alternative behaviours and lifestyles and apply in daily life (R2, R3, R6, R7, R17, R18, R20). Experiential learning gives opportunities for respondents to practice and excel in skillsets to contribute to SFS, such as urban farming knowledge and skills (R8, R14, R15, R17, R19, R20).

"I was responsible in designing one of the community programme 'Eat at 1.5 degree', in which I have to curate educational materials and share it both online and offline settings for kids and middle-age audience. The opportunity empowered me to enhance public awareness on climate change." (R4)

Other factors that affect the level of behaviour

For respondents who have proactively transit to new behaviour, personal interest and sense of environmentally responsibility play a key role in driving such changes (R1-R3, R5, R9- R14, R17-20). It is also found that the motivation to pick up sustainable behaviours is bigger when the incurred cost is lower, for instance, if it is cheaper prepare plant-based meal rather than heavy meat consumption. Nonetheless, there are also challenges when maintaining these behaviours in daily life. The weak sustainability culture among peers, family and in local context makes it difficult to insist pro-environmental behaviour, for instance, it is challenging to change family's perception and their diet pattern as it is related to personal choice (R2, R5-R7, R10, R16, R19). The lack of infrastructure to support sustainable behaviour in the society, for instance food waste collection facilities, in addition to extra time and monetary cost incurred, will discourage respondents to maintain the same level of behaviours in daily life (R3, R4, R7, R14, R18).

"There are still lots of barriers to be sustainable at individual level in Hong Kong. Lack of plant-based restaurant option, plastic-free stores, lack of public awareness, the massive usage of single-used plastic... all these factors make it difficult to persuade family and peers around to act collectively." (R10)

The above analysis validated that SOEL's community education model, the strong community bonding and empowerment in particular, has helped participants and employee nurture certain types of sustainable behaviour, coupled with enhanced knowledge and build-up of a positive attitude as demonstrated in previous sections. Deep learning has taken place from multiperspective in the long-run where learners feel satisfied and fulfilled. Such positive change in environmental values collectively contribute to the development of a SFS.

4.2.3. Sub-research question 3

What are the challenges and future opportunities to further scale up the impact of SOEL's community education in Hong Kong?

Despite proven effectiveness of SOEL's community education model in nurturing individuals' environmental values towards SFS in sub-RQ2, they are facing various challenges to scale up their impact in Hong Kong.

Including the two founders, overall 22 interviewees pointed out some existing challenges of SOEL to scale up their impact in driving SFS, based on their volunteering and working experiences. First, the current scale of SOEL is small and only limited to local neighbourhood level, which may not be as accessible to people living in other district (F1, F2, R1-3, R5, R6, R8, R13, R15, R17, R18, R20). Second, current target audience has limited to similar spectrum of people, for instance, young adults who share similar interest or have more leisure time in boosting personal development (F1, R1, R6, R9, R13, R16-R20). Resources have also emerged as key constraints for typical NGO's operation (Abiddin et al., 2022). The lack of human resources with the relevant skillsets and community building capacity has limited the scope and format of community engagement approach of SOEL (F1, F2, R4, R5, R7, R9, R14, R15, R17, R18), while some employee have expressed stress in overworking. Relatively small physical space of new SOEL location also limits the possibilities of large-scale events, exhibition, urban farm that help to further promote food-agriculture education (F1, F2, R3, R9, R12, R15, R18). Other constraints include limited long-term partnership with local or

international organizations, lack of long-term community engagement programme, limited access for ethnic minority group etc..

On the other hands, these challenges imply future opportunities for SOEL to explore and make collective effort in driving a SFS. First, in terms of partnership, more long-term partnership with community organizations can be established to form a collective network and initiatives by leveraging each's strength and resources, such as creating community kitchens at different neighbourhoods for general public to learn about kindness farming and cooking more easily (F1, F2, F3, R4, R6, R10, R12-R14, R16, R17, R19). Developing longer term strategic partnership with primary and secondary school would also foster food-agriculture education and nurture the appropriate environmental values among younger generation, adults and teachers by establishing innovative curriculum, organizing interactive activities and providing experiential learning experience (F1, F2, R2, R4, R6, R10, R13). In addition, SOEL could support environmental, social and governance (ESG), or corporate social responsibility (CSR) strategies and initiatives of small and medium-enterprise by leveraging their financial support and expending their network (R1, R4, R6, R10, R13, R19).

In terms of target audience, instead of mainly focusing on young adults, there could also be potentials in exploring new groups of audience such as middle-aged housewife, working class, or related-industry professional, in order to enhance public awareness on their relationships with wider food system and the environment (F1, R1, R2, R6, R10, R17, R19, R20). Similarly, SOEL could partner with local schools or community spaces to expand their physical presence in order to access a wider range of audience from different demographics (F1, F2, R15, R16).

4.3. Discussion of findings

Interpretation and implication of findings

Complexities and challenges are ubiquitous for sustainability transition within the food regime, yet bottom-up community education emerges as a vital tool to reconnect end-consumers with the food system and positively nurture their environmental value in the long-run, as demonstrated in the case study analysis.

The unconventional community education model of SOEL has showcased the necessary learning process and conditions to cultivate a space and culture for advancing SD by fostering learning, engagement, and action (UNESCO, 2017), for young adults in Hong Kong in particular. The analysis in section 4.2. has validated that the learning approach of SOEL, namely TL, EL, SL, and volunteering, fulfilled the six action principles of (1) engaging, (2) enabling, (3) embedding, (4) sustaining, (5) transforming, (6) responding, as guided by UNESCO (UNESCO, 2017) [Figure 3]. Such people-focused engagement model is highly effective in strengthening civil engagement (Fifka et al., 2016), and this case study gives insight to both formal and informal education on the existing limitations in engaging end-consumer in the co-creation of a SFS, and how to redesign a more inclusive and accessible community environment for general public to participate.

In short, the analysis in section 4.2 proves that SOEL's community education model is highly effective in advancing individuals' environmental values towards SFS. Before joining SOEL, majority of the interviewees have a minimal level of knowledge, pessimistic attitude and unsustainable behaviour due to a weak connection between their daily life with the wider food

system, in addition to the lack of priority and focus on SD in Hong Kong. It is worth noting the complex dynamics between the three sub-variables between knowledge, attitude and behaviour. When respondents had a low level of knowledge regarding SFS (level 1 or 2), they usually have low engagement level to act sustainably (level 1 or 2). Vice versa, when their knowledge enhances after joining SOEL (level 3 or above), their behaviour will follow accordingly (level 3 or above). This validates the theory that knowledge is the pre-requisite of guiding the corresponding behaviour (Bord et al., 2000), and there is a positive association between the two of them. Acquiring systemic worldview on the food system and transmitting the correct understanding therefore becomes the first vital step to lay a solid foundation in transforming consumer behaviour (Graça et al., 2022; Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002). There is also a feedback loop among the three sub-variable that increase in one value would lead to a non-linear increase in another value (de Boer et al., 2016; do Canto et al., 2021). Meanwhile, having a positive attitude and strong sense of environmental responsibility doesn't necessarily translate to actual behaviour, as there are always personal inertia and external challenges in changing the status quo (Novacek, 2008). Here, an effective community education model comes into place to overcome these challenges leveraging on the power of mixed learning approaches.

Effectiveness of learning approach

To understand which learning process enables a positive change in knowledge, attitude, behaviour, an integrated analysis is conducted by counting the number of relevant quotes from respondents with Atlas.ti [Table 13]. Overall, social learning emerges to be most effective enabler to enhance environmental value through critical discussion, encouragement and exchange of experience among SOEL peers. While individual's action appears to be insignificant and discouraged, a strong community bonding and culture helps motivate community members to understand and engage in the co-creation of a SFS in the long-run. This gives insights to community organizations that social elements must be considered and embed into the design of community programme to enhance its effectiveness. Transformative learning content and curriculum came into second place where participants value disorientation dilemma that challenge their existing frame of reference and provokes critical thinking through discourse and self-reflection. Instead of one-way teaching approach, more innovation and engaging ways of sharing such as discussion forum, discussion with guest speakers and industry professional helps to enhance participants' knowledge towards SFS in particular, which can also be applied in both formal and informal education settings.

Meanwhile, experiential and volunteering learning play equal part in promoting community members' participation. While hands-on experience is important for individuals' to understand where food comes from, and explore alternative consumption pattern, empowering them with responsibility also helps enhance their sense of ownership, achievement thus level of engagement in supporting community development (Cohn, 2008; Fifka et al., 2016). This case study clearly demonstrates that volunteering opportunities have a positive impact on the level of civil engagement in long term, as citizens are empowered to engage in decision-making process (Fifka et al., 2016).

The analysis has also showcased that behavioural intervention generally impose positive effect on other pro-environmental knowledge or behaviour in the long-run, such as recycling and reducing plastic in this case (de Boer et al., 2016; Evans et al., 2013; Lanzini & Thøgersen, 2014; Truelove et al., 2014). Therefore, not only does SOEL's community education helps to enhance community members' engagement in the food system, it enhances the average environmental consciousness and awareness of the general public.

*Number of respondents' quotes (non-mu				
Learning process	Knowledge	Attitude	Behaviour	Overall
Transformative learning	26	10	7	43
Experiential learning	15	5	6	26
Social learning	23	20	22	65
Empowerment through volunteering	10	3	14	27
Others: Personal interest	9	11	10	30

Table 13. Number of interview quotes on enabling learning approach that increase the level of knowledge, attitude and behaviour towards SFS

The above learnings may also be useful for other organizations or education institutes to target young generation in driving a SFS. The case study echoes with empirical evidence that young consumers have a higher degree of environmental awareness and ability to change, who also influenced tremendously by their peers and family (K. Lee, 2010). To attract their interest, organization should well understand their needs and core value, in order to design programme that lock in their engagement. Another implication is that any community programme has to first identify existing loopholes and limitation of food-agriculture education based on the local and cultural context, so to decide what models fit well for what kind of audience in order to enhance the effectiveness. It would also require a long-term intervention for deep learning and cognitive, behavioural change to take place. Community engagement programme therefore has to take in this factor into consideration during design and planning of activities, to drive effectiveness in the long-run.

The power of community education

As an ideal vision, community education can pursue bottom-up sufficiency where local communities are empowered to collectively build knowledge, skillsets to make changes in their food production, consumption and waste reduction practices (de Boer et al., 2016). With the feature of low-tech innovations, decentralized governance, this case study of SOEL illustrates that the youth community in Hong Kong are educated to be self-efficient, resilience, and build long-term behavioural transition towards a resilient, regenerative food system (do Canto et al., 2021; Liaros, 2021). Therefore, an effective community education model on SFS will help address lock-in within social and cultural regime, fostering practice-based transition in food consumption, production and food waste management through social learning and experimenting (Loorbach et al., 2017). Through such transition, it is envisioned to acquire the community with adaptive capacity and enhance their resilience level towards the future state (Meerow et al., 2016).

Limitation of this paper

While this paper provides insight to sustainable transition for the existing food regime through leveraging community organizations and power of community education, there are some limitations to be aware of. First, the analysis is based on a single case study that contributes better understanding on local and cultural context in Hong Kong, yet it couldn't cover challenges to nurture environmental values of another demographics or target audience from another background. Due to limited time and resources for data collection, the case study only focuses on SOEL instead of including few more other community organizations, therefore analysis may not be holistic enough to understand the effectiveness of different kind of community education models on nurturing environmental values towards a SFS, and what kind of models work better for specific spectrum of target audience to drive food transitions.

Also, as qualitative interviewees were conducted, interviewees evaluated the change in their knowledge, attitude and behaviour towards SFS based on their own subjective judgement, where the likert-scale may not be totally representative of their cognitive and emotional learning process. Majority are not familiar with the theoretical definition of SFS defined by FAO [Figure 6], who tend to focus more about the cultural or environmental aspect of SFS but less on economic aspect while they are evaluating during the interviews. Lack of systemic understanding on this subject matter could affect the accuracy of the self-evaluation result. Also, while interviewees were asked to rate their changes in knowledge, attitude, and behaviour, a minority of them appear to be humbler and avoid rating themselves a "5", while few of them tend to report a positive change in their environmental value towards SFS as they may take the interview as an ethical "judgement" on their involvement in sustainability transition. Such tendency may affect of the level of change in likert-scale result, thus analysis of the main research question.

In addition, while the interviews have covered SOEL's participants, volunteers, employees, and founders, who may have prejudice or personal buy-in towards SOEL, the analysis could have been more holistic and objective if other community or industry professionals were invited to comment on the impact of SOEL or their insight on effectiveness of community education, for instance, community organizations, partners, food industry professional who have engaged in other community engagement programme could share their analysis and insight on the subject matter.

Part 5. Conclusions

The main research objective of this paper is to evaluate the role and effectiveness of community education on enhancing individuals' environmental values (namely knowledge, attitude, and behaviour) towards a SFS in the long-run. As advised by a significant number of empirical literatures, more aggressive and proactive measures from various actors are needed to drive sustainable food transitions and reduce environmental impacts, yet relatively less attention was paid to discuss strategies in changing consumer perception, practices and engaging them in the co-creation of a SFS, let alone insight from the emerging economies in Asia. While education is identified as one of the key areas to drive large-scale societal changes through intervention (Loorbach et al., 2017), the academic field needs more insight on how community educations, or CBL, serves to bridge the gaps in acquiring community members with necessary knowledge, attitude, and skillsets to drive food transitions, more importantly, to increase community resilience and adaptability against environmental challenges.

Through the single case study of SOEL, a local NGO that focus on food-agriculture education in Hong Kong, this thesis examines the essential learning approaches that drive positive changes amongst community members, as a key step of sustainability transition. The analysis and insight driven from this study are highly significant in two senses- (1) Scientifically, it provides actual evidence on the extent of changes in environmental values towards a SFS among SOEL's volunteers and employees, and the respective enabling learning conditions and driving forces behind. The qualitative interviews also reveals the challenges and motivation for individuals to connect themselves with the food system and changing their production, consumption and waste reduction patterns; (2) Societally, the analysis elucidates the potentials of community education and the role of community or bottom-up organizations in enabling capacity building and changing consumer practices in light of the global food system challenges, especially impact on young adults and consumption-heavy culture like that of Hong Kong. This chapter also concludes the paper with recommendations for different actors to take proactive actions in contributing potential directions for future research.

Response to the main research question- "What is the effectiveness of School of Everyday Life's community education model on enhancing individuals' environmental value towards a sustainable food system in Hong Kong?"

The mixed-method research approach and corresponding analysis of this paper has validated that SOEL's community education model is highly effective in enhancing environmental values towards a SFS in Hong Kong, which aligns with the expected relationship between the two variables of the conceptual framework illustrated in chapter 2.4.. With the vision to reconnect community members with the environment and bring positive impact through environmental education, SOEL has embraced few key learning approaches as part of its community education model (independent variable), namely TL, EL, SL and empowerment through volunteering, cultivating an effective learning environment for young adults to enhance their knowledge, build up positive perception and change their behaviour (dependent variable) contributing to a SFS. Despite different extent of changes in environmental values due to personal and external challenges, the qualitative interviews analysis revealed the important enablers in driving such positive changes.

In summary, the analysis in chapter 4 shows that interviewees (i.e. SOEL's volunteers or employees) have recorded an overall positive shift in the level of knowledge, attitude and behaviour towards SFS after engaging with SOEL in the long-term (after a year). Prior to

joining SOEL, majority of the interviewees had a relatively low level of understanding, pessimistic attitude and indifferent behaviour to act sustainably. This echoes with the literature reviews in chapter 2 that the formulation of environmental value is a complex process with lots of internal inertia and external barrier (Chung & Leung, 2007b; Kollmuss & Agyeman, 2002; Mihăilă et al., 2022; Tamar et al., 2020). In terms of personal factor, the lack of connections with food system in daily life, lack of personal interest or motivation towards the subject, feeling insignificant or inconvenient act sustainably, are all barriers that hinder one's interest to further understand and change their practices towards a sustainable food production, consumption, or waste reduction. The lack of supporting infrastructure and unsustainable social culture as external factors in Hong Kong also discourage the general public to do so.

Yet, with SOEL's community education model that incorporates various learning principles, it is proven to be significantly effective in advancing community's environmental value and addressing the abovementioned barriers. The overall effectiveness of different learning principles come in the below sequence, providing insight what should be considered when designing a community or educational programme to influence consumers' behaviour and drive food transitions [Table145].

Learning enabler	Insight driven to better drive transitions towards a sustainable food system
1. Social learning	 Community organizations or education institutions should embed social element and create a social network in the design and execution of educational programme to make learning about SFS fun and interesting to learners, who can advance their understanding, practice their skillsets and new behaviour by learning from other peers and changing their practices. Organization or social culture is a key factor that sustains people's interest in engaging in food transition in the long-run. It is important to cultivate an accommodating, welcoming, friendly culture that make people feel motivated to experiment new practices and feeling higher level of achievement and ownership in the co-design of a SFS, supported by strong and cohesive community bonding.
2. Transformative learning	- Instead of conventional one-way transmission of knowledge, it is more engaging to challenge learners' frame of reference with innovative and interactive ways of learning, for instance disorientiation dilemma and critical discussion with industry professionals and peers about the truth and scientific facts behind current food production consumption, and waste management process. It triggers independent thinking and self-reflection, enhancing their knowledge through iteratice research and discussion.
3. Empowerment through volunteering	- Through establishing a community-based volutneering initiative or programme community organizations or education institutions can invite volutneers to engage in the co-design and planning of food & agriculture programme, or lead a small-scale activity or initiative, so to empower learners with a sense of ownership, accountability and ownership that they feel responsible and motivated to advance their knowledge and act resopnsibly for driving a SFS in the long-run.
4. Experiential learning	- It is vital for community organizations or education institutions to provide sufficient hands-on experience for learners to apply new knowledge and experiment new practices e.g. designing and cooking plant-based recipe, engaging in organic farming. These opportunities allow them to learn with trial and error, advancing their capacity through iterative learning.

Table 14. Integrated insight for community organizations or education institutions to adopt various learning approaches to drive SFS

Scaling up the impact of community education

The proven effectiveness of SOEL's community education model implies great opportunities to scale up its impact beyond the community thus expediting the process of sustainable food transitions, however, with the challenges presented in chapter 4.2.3., various internal and external challenges limit the scale and development of such model in a meat carnivore city. The challenges may also apply to other small- or neighbourhood-scale community organizations that have relatively less resources and support in fostering capacity building and community development in emerging economies. As such, below recommendations are made to different stakeholders and actors to build collective effort in driving a SFS thus community resilience-

<u>Stakeholders</u>	<u>Recommendations to scale up the impact of community organizations in</u> <u>driving a SFS</u>
1. Government or public sectors	 Initiate structural policy change to redesign and incentivise the emergence and development of bottom-up community organizations that focus on food & agriculture education Mobilize financial resources and political support to facilitate the growth and scaling of community organizations such as physical space for community programme, training programme for talents, grants for city-level scale programme Build a collaborative eco-system and platform to connect all relevant actors for knowledge and experience sharing on a regular basis and collectively drive sustainable food production, consumption and waste reduction
2. Community organizations	 Enhance public awareness on sustainable food transition and organization exposure online and at social media platforms to attract talents and volunteers Engage multi-stakeholder in bottom-up decision making process and design of community programme Establish long-term partnership with other community groups or organization to scale up the impact in food & agriculture education by leverage each's strength and resources and expanding to a new spectrum of target audience
3. Education institutes	• Explore both short- and long-term partnership with community organizations to design educational curriculum and experiential activities that enhance students' exposure and environmental value towards SFS
4. Private sectors	 Corporates/ small and medium enterprises: Explore collaboration with community organizations on their CSR programme or ESG standard with tailor-made community programme for their employees Financial institutions: Set up social impact funds for investing in emerging organizations or community programmes that foster the development of a SFS
5. Individuals	• Participate and engage in bottom-up community programmes and organizations that support the development of a SFS

• Apply new knowledge and experiment scall-scale changes in daily behaviour that contribute to sustainable food consumption, production or food waste reduction practices

With the right design of supporting mechanism and ecosystem, the role and power of bottomup community organizations is proved to be multi-scalar- (1) Strengthen capacity and enhance self-resilience at individual level, (2) Strengthen social connection, empower marginalized groups through democratic participation at social level, and (3) Optimize resources to enhance urban resilience and sustainable urban development at systematic level (Abiddin et al., 2022; Fraser et al., 2006; Pesch et al., 2019).

Recommendations for future research

Given the significant effectiveness of bottom-up community education in driving sustainable food transitions demonstrated in this paper, future research can thus benefit from the operationalization table and recommendations of this chapter to bridge the gaps and overcome the challenges in changing consumer practices. Nonetheless, as this thesis only focuses on a single case study in Hong Kong, more holistic and international studies are needed to draw a solid conclusion on the effective enabler in making such positive changes.

It would be more scientifically valid and insightful if future research can evaluate the effectiveness of different community education models from a wide range of bottom-up community organizations from different cities or cultural contexts. This can make comparison between models that may adopt distant learning conditions and approach for different target audience giving insights to neighbourhood-scale community organizations on enhancing civic participation in the long-run and scaling up their impact in a city-level. Such research approach can also be applied to other aspects of sustainability transition, such as energy transition, water circularity etc., or sustainability in general.

Future research can also investigate the interdependencies and roles amongst powerful and interested actors in the food transition regime, in order to explore the existing challenges and future potentials of inter-disciplinary collaboration and synergies between stakeholders by providing actual case studies of the effectiveness of these collaborations in co-creation of a SFS. Meanwhile, more in-depth city-level specific studies and evaluations are advised to make more effective policy making in changing consumers' mindsets and their consumption pattern (Yip & Fielding, 2017).

Bibliography

- Abiddin, N. Z., Ibrahim, I., & Abdul Aziz, S. A. (2022). Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs) and Their Part towards Sustainable Community Development. *Sustainability*, 14(8), 4386. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14084386
- Aiko. (2017). 自然研習室見學. *Health* | *Greening*. Retrieved from https://everydaylife.org.hk/media_2017_9_1/
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1977). Attitude-behavior relations: A theoretical analysis and review of empirical research. *Psychological Bulletin*, 84(5), 888.
- Alam, A. (2022). Mapping a Sustainable Future Through Conceptualization of Transformative Learning Framework, Education for Sustainable Development, Critical Reflection, and Responsible Citizenship: An Exploration of Pedagogies for Twenty-First Century Learning. *ECS Transactions*, 107(1), 9827–9840. https://doi.org/10.1149/10701.9827ecst
- Bandura, A., & Walters, R. H. (1977). Social learning theory (Vol. 1). Oxford: Prentice Hall.
- Bandura, Albert. (1978). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Advances in Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *1*(4), 139–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/0146-6402(78)90002-4
- Bernard, H. R., Wutich, A., & Ryan, G. W. (2016). *Analyzing qualitative data: Systematic approaches*. SAGE publications.
- Bhiri, T., Ngwenya, B., Lunga, W., & Musarurwa, C. (2004). The effectiveness of community volunteers participation for sustainability of NGOs poverty reduction projects in Zimbabwe. *Global Journal of Management and Social Sciences*, *2*(2), 25–46.
- Bobo, J., & Chakraborty, S. (2015). Pink Slime, Raw Milk and the Tweetification of Risk. *European Journal of Risk Regulation*, 6(1), 141–144. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1867299X00004372
- Bord, R. J., O'Connor, R. E., & Fisher, A. (2000). In what sense does the public need to understand global climate change? *Public Understanding of Science*, *9*(3), 205–218. https://doi.org/10.1088/0963-6625/9/3/301
- Broadbent, J., & Unerman, J. (2011). Developing the relevance of the accounting academy. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, 19(1/2), 7–21. https://doi.org/10.1108/10222521111178600
- Bryant, J., Ayers, J., Missimer, M., & Broman, G. (2021). Transformational learning for sustainability leadership-essential components in synergy. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 22(8), 190–207. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-01-2021-0014
- Campbell, D. T. (1963). Social Attitudes and Other Acquired Behavioral Dispositions. In *Psychology: A study of a science. Study II. Empirical substructure and relations with other sciences. Investigations of man as socius: Their place in psychology and the social sciences.* (Vol. 6, pp. 94–172). New York: McGraw-Hill. https://doi.org/10.1037/10590-003
- Chan, W. Y. (2014). 重返校園 學習好生活. Green Life.
- Chan, Y. W. (2016). Food localism and resistance: a revival of agriculture and cross-border relations in Hong Kong. *Asia Pacific Viewpoint*, *57*(3), 313–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/apv.12130
- Cheng, S. Y. (2018). 探尋食物由來 學懂尊重生命環境. 通識實踐通通識. Retrieved from https://everydaylife.org.hk/media 2018-4-26/

- Choi, S.-Y. (2015). 從體制到民間: 教育的另類實踐 生活書院. Retrieved from https://everydaylife.org.hk/media 2015 1 31/
- Chung, S.-S., & Leung, M. M.-Y. (2007a). The Value-Action Gap in Waste Recycling: The Case of Undergraduates in Hong Kong. *Environmental Management*, 40, 603–612. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-006-0363-y
- Chung, S.-S., & Leung, M. M.-Y. (2007b). The Value-Action Gap in Waste Recycling: The Case of Undergraduates in Hong Kong. *Environmental Management*, 40(4), 603–612. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-006-0363-y
- Chung, S.-S., & Lo, C. W. H. (2004). Waste Management in Guangdong Cities: The Waste Management Literacy and Waste Reduction Preferences of Domestic Waste Generators. *Environmental Management*, 33(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-004-0020-2
- Cohn, J. P. (2008). Citizen Science: Can Volunteers Do Real Research? *BioScience*, 58(3), 192–197. https://doi.org/10.1641/B580303
- Davis, T., Hennes, E. P., & Raymond, L. (2018). Cultural evolution of normative motivations for sustainable behaviour. *Nature Sustainability*, 1(5), 218–224. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-018-0061-9
- de Boer, J., de Witt, A., & Aiking, H. (2016). Help the climate, change your diet: A crosssectional study on how to involve consumers in a transition to a low-carbon society. *Appetite*, 98, 19–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.12.001
- do Canto, N. R., Grunert, K. G., & De Barcellos, M. D. (2021). Circular Food Behaviors: A Literature Review. *Sustainability*, *13*(4), 1872. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13041872
- Engelbrecht, L. K. (2005). Perspectives on the community education model of social work: Implications for education and practice. *Social Work/Maatskaplike Werk*, 41(2), 143–154.
- Eunice. (2014). 生活書院 大埔新緑點. *Ulifestyle*. Retrieved from https://hk.ulifestyle.com.hk/tour/detail/300197/%E7%94%9F%E6%B4%BB%E6%9B%B 8%E9%99%A2-
 - %E5%A4%A7%E5%9F%94%E6%96%B0%E7%B6%A0%E9%BB%9E/2
- European Commission. (2023). Field to fork: global food miles generate nearly 20% of all CO2 emissions from food. *European Commission*. Retrieved from https://environment.ec.europa.eu/news/field-fork-global-food-miles-generate-nearly-20-all-co2-emissions-food-2023-01-25 en#:~:text=The%20researchers%20also%20estimated%20the,of%20the%20world's%
 - 25_en#:~:text=1ne%20researchers%20also%20estimated%20the,of%20the%20world's% 20GHG%20emissions.
- Evans, L., Maio, G. R., Corner, A., Hodgetts, C. J., Ahmed, S., & Hahn, U. (2013). Selfinterest and pro-environmental behaviour. *Nature Climate Change*, *3*(2), 122–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1662
- FAO. (2018). Sustainable food systems: Concept and framework. Retrieved from https://www.fao.org/3/ca2079en/CA2079EN.pdf
- Fifka, M. S., Kühn, A.-L., Loza Adaui, C. R., & Stiglbauer, M. (2016). Promoting Development in Weak Institutional Environments: The Understanding and Transmission of Sustainability by NGOS in Latin America. VOLUNTAS: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 27(3), 1091–1122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11266-016-9713-4
- Flood, R. L. (1999). *Rethinking the fifth discipline: learning with the unknowable.* . Routledge. .
- Frankish, J. (2003). Conceptualization and measurement of community capacity. Canada.
- Fraser, E. D. G., Dougill, A. J., Mabee, W. E., Reed, M., & McAlpine, P. (2006). Bottom up and top down: Analysis of participatory processes for sustainability indicator identification as a pathway to community empowerment and sustainable environmental management.

Journal of Environmental Management, 78(2), 114–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2005.04.009

- Garmendia, E., & Stagl, S. (2010). Public participation for sustainability and social learning: Concepts and lessons from three case studies in Europe. *Ecological Economics*, 69(8), 1712–1722.
- Geels, F. W. (2010). Ontologies, socio-technical transitions (to sustainability), and the multilevel perspective. *Research Policy*, *39*(4), 495–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.022
- Gernert, M., El Bilali, H., & Strassner, C. (2018). Grassroots Initiatives as Sustainability Transition Pioneers: Implications and Lessons for Urban Food Systems. Urban Science, 2(1), 23. https://doi.org/10.3390/urbansci2010023
- Gifford, R. (2011). The dragons of inaction: Psychological barriers that limit climate change mitigation and adaptation. *American Psychologist*, *66*(4), 290–302. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023566
- Goralnik, L., & Nelson, M. P. (2014). Field philosophy: dualism to complexity through the borderland. *Dialectical Anthropology*, 38(4), 447–463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10624-014-9346-1
- Graça, J., Roque, L., Guedes, D., Campos, L., Truninger, M., Godinho, C., & Vinnari, M. (2022). Enabling sustainable food transitions in schools: a systemic approach. *British Food Journal*, 124(13), 322–339. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-11-2021-1188
- Gray, D. B., Borden, R. J., & Wiegel, R. H. (1985). *Ecological Beliefs and Behaviors:* Assessment and Change. Greenwood Press.
- Haigh, M. J. (2006). Promoting Environmental Education for Sustainable Development: The Value of Links between Higher Education and Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs). *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, 30(2), 327–349. https://doi.org/10.1080/03098260600717422
- Hegerl, G. C., Brönnimann, S., Cowan, T., Friedman, A. R., Hawkins, E., Iles, C., ... Undorf, S. (2019). Causes of climate change over the historical record. *Environmental Research Letters*, 14(12), 123006. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab4557
- Heinrich, W. F., Habron, G. B., Johnson, H. L., & Goralnik, L. (2015). Critical Thinking Assessment Across Four Sustainability-Related Experiential Learning Settings. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 38(4), 373–393. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053825915592890
- Heras, M., Galafassi, D., Oteros-Rozas, E., Ravera, F., Luis Berraquero-Díaz, , & Ruiz-Mallén, I. (2021). *Realising potentials for arts-based sustainability science*. 16, 1875– 1889. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-021-01002-0
- Higgins, P. (2013). From sustainable development to carbon control: urban transformation in Hong Kong and London. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 50, 56–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.11.025
- HKEPD. (2020a). Food Waste Challenge. Retrieved 8 May 2023, from HKSAR Environmental Protection Department website: https://www.epd.gov.hk/epd/english/environmentinhk/waste/prob_solutions/food_waste_c hallenge.html
- HKEPD. (2020b). *Monitoring of Solid Waste in Hong Kong Waste Statistics for 2019*. Hong Kong. Retrieved from https://www.wastereduction.gov.hk/sites/default/files/msw2019.pdf
- Ho, H. T. (2020). Cosmopolitan locavorism: global local-food movements in postcolonial Hong Kong. *Food, Culture & Society*, 23(2), 137–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/15528014.2019.1682886
- Ho, K. S., & Chu, L. M. (2019). Characterization of food waste from different sources in Hong Kong. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association*, 69(3), 277–288. https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2018.1526138

Iluț, P. (2004). Valori, atitudini și comportamente sociale: teme actuale de psihosociologie. *Polirom.*

Johnson, C. Y., Bowker, J. M., & Cordell, H. K. (2004). Ethnic Variation in Environmental Belief and Behavior. *Environment and Behavior*, *36*(2), 157–186. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916503251478

Jones, R. E., & Dunlap, R. E. (2010). The Social Bases of Environmental Concern: Have They Changed Over Time?1. *Rural Sociology*, *57*(1), 28–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1549-0831.1992.tb00455.x

Jónsdóttir, Á. B. (2019). Critical Thinking and Community Engagement through Artistic Actions. *International Journal of Art & Design Education*, *38*(3), 700–709. https://doi.org/10.1111/jade.12251

Jurgilevich, A., Birge, T., Kentala-Lehtonen, J., Korhonen-Kurki, K., Pietikäinen, J., Saikku, L., & Schösler, H. (2016). Transition towards Circular Economy in the Food System. *Sustainability*, 8(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8010069

Keeton, M. T., & Tate, P. J. (1978). Learning by Experience-What, Why, how . Jossey-Bass.

Kolb, D. A. (1984). *Experiential Learning: Experience as the Source of Learning and Development*. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall.

Kollmuss, A., & Agyeman, J. (2002). Mind the Gap: Why do people act environmentally and what are the barriers to pro-environmental behavior? *Environmental Education Research*, 8(3), 239–260. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504620220145401

- Kraus, S. J. (1995). Attitudes and the Prediction of Behavior: A Meta-Analysis of the Empirical Literature. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21(1), 58–75. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167295211007
- Kucharska, W., & Kowalczyk, R. (2019). How to achieve sustainability?-Employee's point of view on company's culture and CSR practice. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, *26*(2), 453–467. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1696

Lanzini, P., & Thøgersen, J. (2014). Behavioural spillover in the environmental domain: An intervention study. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 40, 381–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2014.09.006

Lapayese, Y. V. (2003). Review: Toward a Critical Global Citizenship Education. *Comparative Education Review*, 47(4), 493–501. https://doi.org/10.1086/379495

Lee, B., Collier, P. M., & Cullen, J. (2007). Reflections on the use of case studies in the accounting, management and organizational disciplines. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 2(3), 169–178. https://doi.org/10.1108/17465640710835337

Lee, K. (2010). The Green Purchase Behavior of Hong Kong Young Consumers: The Role of Peer Influence, Local Environmental Involvement, and Concrete Environmental Knowledge. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 23(1), 21–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/08961530.2011.524575

Li, N., Chan, D., Mao, Q., Hsu, K., & Fu, Z. (2018). Urban sustainability education: Challenges and pedagogical experiments. *Habitat International*, *71*, 70–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HABITATINT.2017.11.012

Liaros, S. (2021). Circular Food Futures: What Will They Look Like? *Circular Economy and Sustainability*, *1*(4), 1193–1206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43615-021-00082-5

Liu, P., Teng, M., & Han, C. (2020). How does environmental knowledge translate into proenvironmental behaviors?: The mediating role of environmental attitudes and behavioral intentions. *Science of The Total Environment*, 728, 138126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138126

- Loorbach, D., Frantzeskaki, N., & Avelino, F. (2017). Sustainability Transitions Research: Transforming Science and Practice for Societal Change. *Annual Review of Environment* and Resources, 42(1), 599–626. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-102014-021340
- Lotz-Sisitka, H., Mukute, M., Chikunda, C., Baloi, A., & Pesanayi, T. (2017). Transgressing the norm: Transformative agency in community-based learning for sustainability in southern African contexts. *International Review of Education*, 63(6), 897–914. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11159-017-9689-3
- Luo, J. M., Lee, N., & Qiu, H. (2015). Education for sustainable development in Hong Kong: A review of UNESCO Hong Kong's Experimental schools. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 18(1), 48–61.
- Maher, J., & Burkhart, S. (2017). Experiential learning for engaging nutrition undergraduates with sustainability. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 18(7), 1108–1122. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-01-2016-0010
- Malina, M. A., Nørreklit, H. S. O., & Selto, F. H. (2011). Lessons learned: advantages and disadvantages of mixed method research. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 8(1), 59–71. https://doi.org/10.1108/11766091111124702
- McFarlane, D. A., & Ogazon, A. G. (2011). The challenges of sustainability education. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Research (1947-2900)*, *3*(3), 83–107. Retrieved from http://jmrpublication.org/wp-content/uploads/JMR3-3.pdf#page=83
- Meerow, S., Newell, J. P., & Stults, M. (2016). Defining urban resilience: A review. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *147*, 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.11.011
- Mezirow, J. (2003). Transformative Learning as Discourse. *Journal of Transformative Education*, 1(1), 58–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541344603252172
- Middlemiss, L. (2011). The effects of community-based action for sustainability on participants' lifestyles. *Local Environment*, *16*(3), 265–280. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2011.566850
- Mihăilă, M., Jităreanu, A. F., & Costuleanu, C. L. (2022). The Environmental Values A Study on the Students' Perception, Attitudes and Behaviours. *Revista Romaneasca Pentru Educatie Multidimensionala*, 14(1), 465–483. https://doi.org/10.18662/rrem/14.1/529
- Miska, C., Szőcs, I., & Schiffinger, M. (2018). Culture's effects on corporate sustainability practices: A multi-domain and multi-level view. *Journal of World Business*, 53(2), 263–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2017.12.001
- Muranko, Z., Andrews, D., Newton, E. J., Chaer, I., & Proudman, P. (2018). The Pro-Circular Change Model (P-CCM): Proposing a framework facilitating behavioural change towards a Circular Economy. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 135, 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.12.017
- Nikkhah, H. A., & Redzuan, M. Bin. (2010). The Role of NGOs in Promoting Empowerment for Sustainable Community Development. *Journal of Human Ecology*, *30*(2), 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1080/09709274.2010.11906276
- Novacek, M. J. (2008). Engaging the public in biodiversity issues. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(supplement_1), 11571–11578. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0802599105
- Okvat, H. A., & Zautra, A. J. (2011). Community Gardening: A Parsimonious Path to Individual, Community, and Environmental Resilience. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 47(3–4), 374–387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-010-9404-z
- Oriental Daily. (2014). 學習自然生活. Oriental Daily.
- Pahl-Wostl, C., & Hare, M. (2004). Processes of social learning in integrated resources management. *Ournal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 14(3), 193–206.

- Pesch, U., Spekkink, W., & Quist, J. (2019). Local sustainability initiatives: innovation and civic engagement in societal experiments. *European Planning Studies*, 27(2), 300–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2018.1464549
- Petronienė, S., & Juzelėnienė, S. (2022). Community Engagement via Mural Art to Foster a Sustainable Urban Environment. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *14*(16). https://doi.org/10.3390/su141610063
- Prakash, G., Choudhary, S., Kumar, A., Garza-Reyes, J. A., Khan, S. A. R., & Panda, T. K. (2019). Do altruistic and egoistic values influence consumers' attitudes and purchase intentions towards eco-friendly packaged products? An empirical investigation. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 50, 163–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.05.011
- Ritchie, M. (2013). Sustainability education, experiential learning, and social justice: Designing community based courses in the global south. *Journal of Sustainability Education*, 5, 1–13.
- Rodríguez Aboytes, J. G., & Barth, M. (2020). Transformative learning in the field of sustainability: a systematic literature review (1999-2019). *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 21(5), 993–1013. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-05-2019-0168
- Rodriguez-Labajos, B. (2022). Artistic activism promotes three major forms of sustainability transformation. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 57. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COSUST.2022.101199
- Rogers, M. (2005). Social sustainability and the art of engagement—the small towns: big picture experience. *Local Environment*, *10*(2), 109–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/1354983052000330734
- Savelyeva, T. (2022). The influence of education and family systems on the sustainability values of Hong Kong University students. 23, 669–681. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12564-022-09786-1
- Schenck, C. J., & Louw, H. (1995). A people-centred perspective on people-centred community development. *Journal of Social Development in Africa*, 10(2), 81–91.
- Senge, P. (1990). The fifth discipline: The art and practice of the learning organization. . New York: Currency Doubleday. : The Fifth Discipline: The Art and Practice of the Learning Organisation.
- Shove, E. (2010). Social theory and climate change: questions often, sometimes and not yet asked. *Theory, Culture & Society*, *27*(2–3), 277–288. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276410361498
- Sijtsema, S. J., Fogliano, V., & Hageman, M. (2020a). Tool to Support Citizen Participation and Multidisciplinarity in Food Innovation: Circular Food Design. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2020.582193
- Sijtsema, S. J., Fogliano, V., & Hageman, M. (2020b). Tool to Support Citizen Participation and Multidisciplinarity in Food Innovation: Circular Food Design. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2020.582193
- Siu, Y. H. (2023). 從農地到餐桌. Retrieved from Ming Pao Weekly website: https://www.mpweekly.com/culture/cu0006/%e5%be%9e%e8%be%b2%e5%9c%b0%e5 %88%b0%e9%a4%90%e6%a1%8c/
- Smith, G. (2015). *Essential Statistics, Regression, and Econometrics* (2nd ed.). Amsterdam: Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2014-0-04762-4
- SOEL. (2019). 邊緣中學變身心靈小社區 把生活一手一腳活出來. School of Everyday Life. Retrieved from

https://everydaylife.org.hk/%e9%82%8a%e7%b7%a3%e4%b8%ad%e5%ad%b8%e8%ae %8a%e8%ba%ab%e5%bf%83%e9%9d%88%e5%b0%8f%e7%a4%be%e5%8d%80% e6% 8a% 8a% e7% 94% 9f% e6% b4% bb% e4% b8% 80% e6% 89% 8b% e4% b8% 80% e8% 85% b3% e6% b4% bb% e5% 87% ba% e4% be% 86/

- SOEL. (n.d.). School of Everday Life. Retrieved 19 May 2023, from https://everydaylife.org.hk/
- Spaargaren, G., Oosterveer, P., & Loeber, A. (Eds.). (2013). Food practices in transition: changing food consumption, retail and production in the age of reflexive modernity. London: Routledge.
- Steg, L., & Vlek, C. (2009). Encouraging pro-environmental behaviour: An integrative review and research agenda. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 29(3), 309–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2008.10.004
- Szerszynski, B. (2007). The Post-ecologist condition: Irony as symptom and cure. *Environmental Politics*, 16(2), 337–355. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644010701211965
- Tamar, M., Wirawan, H., Arfah, T., & Putri, R. P. S. (2020). Predicting pro-environmental behaviours: the role of environmental values, attitudes and knowledge. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*, 32(2), 328–343. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEQ-12-2019-0264
- Tang, T. W., & Sobko, T. (2019). Environmental Impact of the Average Hong Kong Diet: A Case for Adopting Sustainable Diets in Urban Centers. *Challenges*, 10(2), 5. https://doi.org/10.3390/challe10020005
- Thoresen, V. W., Doyle, D., Klein, J., & Didham, R. J. (Eds.). (2015). *Responsible Living : Concepts, Education and Future Perspectives*. Springer.
- Tilbury, D., & Wortman, D. (2008). How is Community Education Contributing to Sustainability in Practice? *Applied Environmental Education and Communication*, 7(3), 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/15330150802502171
- Torkar, G., Fabijan, T., & Bogner, F. X. (2020). Students' Care for Dogs, Environmental Attitudes, and Behaviour. *Sustainability*, *12*(4), 1317. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041317
- Truelove, H. B., Carrico, A. R., Weber, E. U., Raimi, K. T., & Vandenbergh, M. P. (2014). Positive and negative spillover of pro-environmental behavior: An integrative review and theoretical framework. *Global Environmental Change*, 29, 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.09.004
- Tse, M. H. (2014). 向好生活學習. Hong Kong Economic Times. Retrieved from https://everydaylife.org.hk/media_2014_7_19/
- UNDP. (2015). *Capacity Development: A UNDP Premier*. Retrieved from https://www.undp.org/publications/capacity-development-undp-primer
- UNESCO. (2017). Community-based learning for sustainable development. UIL Policy Brief 8. Retrieved from https://www.local2030.org/library/321/Community-based-learning-forsustainable-development.pdf

UNESCO. (2020a). *Education for sustainable development: a roadmap*. Paris: UNESCO. https://doi.org/10.54675/YFRE1448

- UNESCO. (2020b, March 24). Promoting Community-based Education for Sustainable Development. Retrieved 20 April 2023, from UNESCO Bangkok Asia and Pacific Regional Bureau for Education website: https://bangkok.unesco.org/content/promotingcommunity-based-education-sustainable-development
- UNESCO. (2021). *Getting every school climate-ready: how countries are integrating climate change issues in education*. Paris.
- UNESCO. (2023, March 14). What you need to know about education for sustainable development. Retrieved 3 May 2023, from https://www.unesco.org/en/education-sustainable-development/need-know
- United Nations. (2022). The unique contribution of volunteering to sustainable development . Retrieved 7 May 2023, from Sustainable development goals knowledge platform website:

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/index.php?page=view&type=30022&nr=794&men u=3170

- Vencatasawmy, C. P., Ohman, M., & Brannstrom, T. (2000). A survey of recycling behaviour in households in Kiruna, Sweden. *Waste Management and Research*, 18(6), 545–556. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-3070.2000.00166.x
- Wang, E. S.-T., & Lin, H.-C. (2017). Sustainable Development: The Effects of Social Normative Beliefs On Environmental Behaviour. Sustainable Development, 25(6), 595– 609. https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.1680
- Warren-Rhodes, K., & Koenig, A. (2001). Ecosystem appropriation by Hong Kong and its implications for sustainable development. *Ecological Economics*, 39(3), 347–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(01)00194-X
- WCU. (2011). Education for sustainability.
- Yau, Y. Y., Thibodeau, B., & Not, C. (2018). Impact of cutting meat intake on hidden greenhouse gas emissions in an import-reliant city. *Environmental Research Letters*, 13(6), 064005. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabd45
- Yip, S., & Fielding, R. (2017). Health and greenhouse gas emission implications of reducing meat intakes in Hong Kong. *International Journal of Biological, Biomolecular, Agricultural, Food and Biotechnological Engineering.*

Appendix 1: Work plan

Phase/ Action	Timeline
Desktop research and identify interested thesis topics with literature reviews	Feb- April 2023
Identify, engage and inform potential research audience (i.e. volunteer, employee and founders of SOEL) about research objectives and data collection	Early March 2023
Design qualitative interview questions and interview guide	March- early April 2023
Submission of draft proposal	5 April 2023
Send out interview questions to research audience	Late April 2023
Thesis writing	Late April – mid-June 2023
Data collection & analysis	Early May 2023
Submission of thesis draft	15 th June 2023
Submission of final thesis	13 th July 2023

Table 15. Work plan

Appendix 2: Interview guide

A. Interview protocol

The consent provided by the 22 interviewees (2 founders, 20 SOEL's volunteers or employees) included the following:

- The result of the qualitative interview will contribute insights to the thesis of "effectiveness of community education on enhancing environmental value towards a sustainable food system in Hong Kong"
- The interview contents will be kept strictly confidential and anonymous
- Only the audio of the online interview will be recorded (no video) on the basis that the recording and transcription will only be shared with the thesis supervisor. After the thesis has been completed, the recording and transcription will also be deleted.
- Final outcome of the thesis can be shared with the interviewees for their learnings and references

B. Profile of the interviewees obtained

- Gender and age of interviewees
- Monthly income level of interviewees
- Occupational background of interviewees
- Role in SOEL (Volunteers, participant, employees, founders)
- Number of years engaged with SOEL

Actors	Variable	Indicator	Key interview questions
SOEL's volunteers and employees	Knowledge towards SFS	Change in the level of knowledge before and after joining SOEL (with a pre- defined likert- scale)	 What was your level of knowledge about food, or food system, before joining any events by SOEL? (Scale 1 to 5) After your engagement with SOEL, what is your level of knowledge about food, or a sustainable food system? Follow-up questions: If you rate 1 or 2 in the previous question, what are the challenges you have faced in understanding more about the sustainable food system? Why?
			- If you rate 3 to 5 in the previous question, what are the driving forces or enabling conditions that you find helpful in enhancing your level of knowledge on sustainable food system? Why?
SOEL's volunteers	Attitude towards SFS	Change in attitude before	- What was your attitude towards the food system, before joining any events by
and employees		and after joining SOEL (with a	SOEL? (Scale 1 to 5)

C. Key interview questions

		pre-defined likert-scale)	- After your engagement with SOEL, how is your attitude towards the sustainable food system?
			Follow-up questions:
			- If you rate 1 or 2 in the previous question, what were the challenges you have faced in feeling more environmentally responsible or impactful about the sustainable food system?
			- If you rate 3 to 5 in the previous question, what are the driving forces or enabling conditions that you find make you feel more environmentally responsible or can make an impact on a sustainable food system?
SOEL's volunteers and employees	Behaviour towards SFS	Change in the level of behaviour before and after	- What was your behaviour pattern towards the sustainable food system, before joining any events by SOEL? (Scale 1 to 5)
		joining SOEL (with a pre- defined likert-	- After your engagement with SOEL, what is your behaviour pattern towards the sustainable food system?
			Follow-up questions:
			- If you rate 1 or 2 in the previous question, what were the challenges you have faced in pursuing sustainable food behaviours?
			- If you rate 3 to 5 in the previous question, what kind of sustainable food behaviour do you pursue?
			- What are the driving forces or enabling conditions that help you nurture such sustainable behaviours?
- SOEL's volunteers, employees and founders	Challenges and opportunities of scaling up SOEL's	Personal insight and experience	- What are the existing limitation of SOEL's community education model in nurturing long- term towards sustainability food transition? Please elaborate.
	Impact		- What do you think are the opportunities to further scale up the development and impact of SOEL's community education model in Hong Kong?

Table 16. Key interview questions

D. List of Respondents

Sn.	Category	Source	Interview duration (hh:mm:ss)
1	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	42:37
2	SOEL's employee	Personal connection	47:56
3	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	52:39
4	SOEL's employee	Personal connection	58:00
5	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	49:42
6	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	53:01
7	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	48:56
8	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	43:27
9	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	36:18
10	SOEL's employee	Personal connection	51:40
11	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	37:20
12	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	40:06
13	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	1:19: 26
14	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	39:29
15	SOEL's employee	Personal connection	54:58
16	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	41:10
17	SOEL's employee	Personal connection	1:05:52
18	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	30:45
19	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	48:25
20	SOEL's volunteer	Personal connection	39:04
21	SOEL's founder	Personal connection	59:43
22	SOEL's founder	Personal connection	1:11:51

Table 17. List of respondents

Appendix 3: Background/ demographics of interviewees

Background of the 20 interviewees (15 SOEL's volunteer and 5 employees) are as below: (The two founders of SOEL were excluded from this demographic analysis since they are not the target actors for measuring a change in environmental values towards SFS)





Figure 17. Monthly income level of interview respondents



Figure 18. Occupational background of interview respondents



Figure 19. Number of years engaged in SOEL

Appendix 4: List of key quotations from qualitative interviews

Respondents	Key quotes (that are helpful to the analysis in chapter 4)
R1	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"Through cooking and farming together, I have learnt to experience the taste of organic food, use better ingredients, and the interdependency between the ecosystem and food production process."
	"I don't have further motivation to advance my understanding towards related topic because I believe it is sufficient to tackle with my daily needs."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"The early stage of picking up a new habit or lifestyle is difficult, but when time goes by, it becomes less troublesome and annoying and it becomes a new routine instead."
	Others pro-environmental behaviour
	"I have more sense of urgency towards environmental issue and am more aware of global news, such as what organizations are working on what kind of policies to address climate changes."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"SOEL can explore to target middle-aged people or working class, who have less knowledge, motivation and access to environmental topic but are grounded by consumerism culture."
R2	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"I have gained more knowledge about the social and environmental aspect of SFS, such as animal welfare, kindness-farming, organic farming with the use of pesticide, but I have less understanding on the economic aspect."
	"SOEL has a core value of kindness- to care about people, animals, and the environment around us, so that we are more aware of our own impact."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"In Hong Kong, it is quite challenging to feel positive about the environment. From economic perspective, poor people are generally more unhealthy as they always consume cheap fast food. From social aspect, we consumer many processed food and rarely care about the impact to the future generation and animal welfare. From environmental perspective, Hong Kong is very urbanized and has less focus on the topic of sustainable development."
	"The activities of SOEL helped me nurture a positive attitude towards making an impact. For instance, while guest speakers are sharing their view on sustainable development, they motivate me to think more about what I can act more responsibly. Sometimes I also feel powerless and insignificant in making any individual actions, yet peers in SOEL make me feel possible to influence."

	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL	
	"Sometimes there is still a gap between knowledge and behaviour. In some situations in daily life, I still eat meat, or use plastic, due to the lack of motivation and determination, also influence from peers around."	
	Challenges of scaling up SOEL's impact	
	"Current scale of SOEL is very small and its community engagement program can only achieve a certain goal or stage. Many events are once- off, which may affect longer-term engagement with the community."	
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact	
	"SOEL may try to establish a community economy, where community members can regularly purchase locally grown vegetables from local organic farms."	
R3	Knowledge towards SFS before joining SOEL	
	"I understood there is hunger in the world, vegetables will get more expensive during typhoons, but I couldn't connect the topic of food system or food production with my daily life."	
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL	
	"I personally feel responsible to be healthy and consumer more organic food. During farming activities, farmers will also talk about water source, so that I become more aware of where our food comes from."	
	"Peers in SOEL share similar vision of making the earth a better place. I feel more positive, motivated, and less desperate to act sustainably."	
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL	
	"I was curious why peers in SOEL act in certain way, for instance consuming plant-based meal, and the motives behind. When I try to learn from them, I feel it is not as difficult as I think."	
	"It is still difficult to change the consumption habit of family members."	
	Others pro-environmental behaviour	
	"has shared how birds in Midway Island suffer from plastic pollution, I was very shocked and I become very persistent in avoiding the use of plastic bag. SOEL."	
	Differences between SOEL and other community organizations	
	"SOEL focuses deeper engagement with each individuals, pushing for critical thinking and building interdependencies between people and the environment; while other organizations tend to be more result-oriented for transmitting knowledge of certain subject."	
R4	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL	
	"Peer influence is important. I love being in a group and as we become friends, we encourage one another to cook and eat plant-based together."	

	"Being an employee, I am responsible to organize and plan community activities, therefore I need to do research and understand the subject first, which I develop further personal interest."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"SOEL cultivates a sustainable culture and form a strong community network where peers learn from one another to act sustainably. Previously I felt difficult to do it alone, but feel more motivated when doing with groups. For instance, I had no knowledge about eating plant-based prior, but I can learn from the community."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"I was responsible in designing one of the community programme 'Eat at 1.5 degree', in which I have to curate educational materials and share it both online and offline settings for kids and middle-age audience. The opportunity empowered me to enhance public awareness on climate change."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"Opening a community restaurant, partnering with corporate for retreat activities, establishing sustainable store within the community these are all ideas we can further promote sustainable development."
R5	Knowledge towards SFS before joining SOEL
	"I was aware the topic of food nutrition but lack of experience on the actual food production process, for example how to farm without using pesticides. There was no access to this aspect in my daily life."
	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"Farmer Ms. Chuk shared her farming experience and I am surprised by her effort in taking care of animal welfare and organic farming. It triggers my reflection on the feasibility to balance environmental and social needs in real life."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"As time goes by, I start learning from peers and accumulate more knowledge related to the food system. They recommend me some plant- based restaurants, then I start joining more activities related to sustainability."
	"The culture in SOEL is very encouraging and welcoming, which make it easier for first-time learner to experiment different new behaviours. It enhances my sense of achievement and avoid the sense of failure."
	Others pro-environmental behaviour
	"I start to make my own sandlewood by using recycled wooden packaging. The traditional production process will cause damage to environment, therefore I would source good-quality ingredients from less commercialized or urbanized places."

	Challenges of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"Current operational scale of SOEL is limited to neighbourhood scale while focusing on the depth of learning, it may need more human resources and talents to support scaling up its impact."
R6	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"SOEL has once invited a Japanese food security expert Watanabe Yuji to share his research journey on food additives and how shocked he was when his wife and daughter's health were affected, in which I just learnt that how much unhealthy food I have been eating."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"Peers in SOEL often pursue sustainable habits that motivate me to act responsibly together. I don't feel as lonely. For instance, we will prepare and have plant-based meals together, and share relevant news."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"The community market and guest speakers invited by SOEL give opportunities for me to understand more about sustainable food system and how I can apply in daily life. Some people will use food waste to make DIY products, which has inspired me."
	"COVID has encouraged the use of disposable plastic and takeaway, which has refrained me from acting sustainably."
R7	Knowledge towards SFS before joining SOEL
	"I only get minimal understanding about food nutrition from my high- school education, yet I am totally not familiar about in-depth knowledge about food source, production, distribution, or how our consumption pattern is impacting the environment."
	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"Farmer Ms. Chuk shared about her journey to organic farming, in addition to SOEL's network, it becomes easier and more convenient to access related information."
	"There was an intern from SOEL who used 9 hours to make a tofu for participants to taste and she was very dedicated to elaborating on the production process. Her passion inspired me."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"I personally don't feel organic farming can really address the problem of world hunger, it is more for luxury purpose. However, I still purchase locally grown organic vegetables out of passion and compassion for animal welfare."
	"Hong Kong is not plant-based friendly and there is lack of options."
	Others pro-environmental behaviour
	"I become less materialistic and feel intrinsically rich. SOEL's has helped me nurture a minimalist lifestyle where I will prolong the usage of different

	<i>items by recycling or covering them. SOEL's peers have similar lifestyle which is encouraging.</i> "
	Differences between SOEL and other community organizations
	"SOEL can drive more penetration and perpetual changes by building a community and strong relationship with member while other community organizes tend to focus on one-way transmission of knowledge."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"In the UK, psychologically ill people are invited to participate in farming as therapy, prescribed by mainstream doctors. They will be given a certificate after the programme to further build career for those patients. This gives insights on how we can spread awareness on the interconnectedness between the environment and our inner happiness."
R8	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"As volunteers, I am interested in investigating and experiment new plant- based recipe with other peers, such as turning food waste into a new dish."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"Collective effort is always more powerful than individuals' action."
R9	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"Previously I had shallow level of knowledge about food system, yet with hands-on experience helping with organic farming, and talking to Ms. Chuk the farmer, I understand more about the relationship between weather, biodiversity, and our food, also the challenges in sustaining agriculture industry."
	Behaviour towards SFS before joining SOEL
	"I was not too aware or motivated to take any pro-environmental behaviours, also the culture and education in Hong Kong is not encouraging any changes anyway."
	"I become more aware of my own behaviour and have less materialistic pursue in recent years. I try to fly less by plane, and do more recycling in daily life."
	Differences between SOEL and other community organizations
	"SOEL culture is very open and flexible, which allows volunteers to co- design the community program and curriculum, lead activities. It builds a community for like-minded people which I have befriended with. Comparatively, other organizations tend to have a more fixed structure."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"There are always opportunities to scale up, but the key question is effectiveness and resources needed to support such actions. We need to first understand the challenges of the society and operation model of SOEL."
R10	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
-----	--
	"The first time I joined Lifewalker programme, there was a plant-based BBQ which I was very impressed by the diversity and variety of food offered. It has unlocked my imagination about plant-based and reconnected me with food."
	"Peers in SOEL always share latest news about sustainable development and products, which helped enhance my observation and awareness."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"I see the impact of my own action. At the beginning, my family doesn't care about their consumption pattern. Yet after a year when I changed to plant- based, they start to follow and sometimes have plant-based diets together. It also helps building closer relationship with them."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"There are still lots of barriers to be sustainable at individual level in Hong Kong. Lack of plant-based restaurant option, plastic-free stores, lack of public awareness, the massive usage of single-used plastic all these factors make it difficult to persuade family and peers around to act collectively."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"We should promote food education in school as agriculture and value education is more common nowadays. Students, parents and teachers can benefit and further influence their network and consumption choice."
R11	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"I have joined the guided tour to 'Food Studio', which has enhanced my understanding about farming, agriculture, livestock industry, and how unsustainable our current food production process is."
	"Through volunteering, I have done more research on related topic before head so that I can share the correct information about food and agriculture to students and elderly."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"It takes long time to nurture a positive attitude and sustainable lifestyle. As time goes by, my lifestyle slowly changes as inspired by people around. I have joined more environmental activities to build up my sense of responsibility such as more recycling, reducing waste and consumption etc"
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"Hong Kong government tends to have short-term and commercial-driven goals regarding sustainable development, thus there is a need to change the mindset through education in the long-run."
R12	Knowledge towards SFS before joining SOEL
	"I only had basic understanding about Hong Kong food culture from mainstream media and advertisement."

	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"Through dialogue and discussion with SOEL's peers, in addition to SOEL's social media, I have learnt more relevant information about sustainable food consumption."
	Attitude towards SFS before joining SOEL
	"I had a general sense of awareness about recycling but it was difficult to sustain any significant behaviour in long term due to peer influence and the wider social culture."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"The environment in SOEL encouraged learners to experiment any small- scale practices, and I would reflect what could I do more personally. SOEL builds a collective community network consisted of people sharing similar vision."
	Others pro-environmental behaviour
	"I will now reflect more on the trust cost behind a t-shirt production and am more aware of the use of recycled materials."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"There could be more collaboration and synergy to work with other NGOs on longer-term projects."
	"SOEL can establish its own brand by having volunteer to prepare plant- based meals, selling locally grown food to the communities, and educating the general public."
R13	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"The Food Studio of SOEL in Tai Po enhanced my awareness towards processed food and how unhealthy they are. It also visualizes the relationship between food, biodiversity and weather."
	"SOEL builds a supportive system where you can how others pursuing sustainable practices with faith and collective force, and I am motivated to do the same."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"The importance of social learning is that you don't feel alone. SOEL peers share similar vision in life and very kind personality, which gives me stronger motivation to act sustainably and feel that my action is not as insignificant as I think."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"I have established my own brand called Garlic Grandma, which I ordered ingredients from local farmers to produce our own garlic."
	"Personally, I want to align my vision, purpose of life with my daily life. SOEL's community also helps facilitate knowledge exchange amongst volunteers where I can learn from others."

	Differences between SOEL and other community organizations	
	"Other NGOs have less focus on knowledge exchange and education, while SOEL covers a diverse range of topic with fun and interesting learning experiences."	
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact	
	"Hong Kong has a silo segregation between urbanized and rural context, therefore we need more education on food and agriculture, and promote plant-based culture in Hong Kong. Environmental education should explore a combination of emotional and cognitive learning instead of solely being technical-focused."	
	"SOEL can partner with other NGO who have access to more diverse range of target audience from different neighbourhoods, demographics and age."	
R14	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL	
	"Hong Kong education focus on knowledge, but not teaching students WHY we need to be sustainable. In contrast, SOEL adopted spiritual and emotional learning which encourage people to extend our care and love to other aspects of our live."	
	Attitude towards SFS before joining SOEL	
	"Sometimes I will eat plant-based, yet I don't think I will make any significant impact or change as the problem of climate change is too complex and big."	
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL	
	"During the camp, I have witness farmer Ms. Chuk preparing ingredients, cook for an audience of 80+, which was very impressive and encouraging for me to pursue similar vision."	
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL	
	"Experiential learning serves as a bridge as Hong Kong has less opportunities to try our organic farming. I gained practical experiences in growing organic vegetables and beach cleaning, which draws closer emotional connection with my daily life."	
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact	
	"We need more chances for urbanized population to reconnect with the nature, for instance, a community hub for neighbours to join anytime to cook and farm together."	
R15	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL	
	"As an event organizer, I was responsible to design the food studio and prepare for guided tour. During research, I gained better understanding on the long-term impact of pesticide on biodiversity."	
	"From farmer's sharing, I am encouraged to make more responsible food consumption choices and be more proactive in experimenting plant-based meals."	

	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"When I am responsible to teach kids about the negative impact of our current diets, I need to be sincere in sharing the correct knowledge as I am given ownership. The kids turned out to be more interested in connecting with the environment, where I can feel the direct impact of my contribution."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"I start recycling food waste for further composition, farming and cooking,"
	"Enhanced awareness will drive sustainable behaviour, which in turns further strengthened my awareness. It is a feedback loop. I will reflect what I can do more, such as preparing really tasty plant-based meals for others."
	Employee experience
	"SOEL's vision aligns very much with their actual behaviour and actions. The founder also helps me with personal development and communications skills, which aligns with my personal core value as well."
	Challenges of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"Some teachers are not engaged in the educational activities which becomes barriers to build closer relationship between teachers and students. In light of this situation, sometimes we will invite teachers to join the activities and learn with the students together."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"Social media as a huge potential in driving a new culture, SOEL can leverage more on Instagram to target the younger audience."
R16	Attitude towards SFS before joining SOEL
	"It is very difficult to convince and change the habits of family, as others have different lifestyle and consumption pattern. The global food challenge is a complex big problem which is too big to solve by individuals."
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"SOEL shows video of how community organizations in Taiwan make collective sustainable effort that has impressed me."
	"Sometimes I feel I have lost control on food when I don't know the source of food my family brought. I also wasn't determined enough to cook sustainable meals by myself due to inconvenience."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"I am used to bring my own bag, however after COVID, I become lazy, and it becomes inconvenient to do so. I spend less time with SOEL, in addition to the mainstream culture, sometimes I failed to pursue sustainable habits in long-run."

	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"It is important to build a community bonding. It would be more appealing when there is easier access to eco-friendly stores at any neighbourhood instead of going to a particular place. Community organizations can achieve this by collaborating with talents living in the neighbourhood and make it accessible in everyday life by leveraging existing resources and network."
R17	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"As I was responsible in guiding the tour of 'Food for Life' Studio, I did more readings and research on food supply chain, for instance, the long- term environmental impact of using pesticide to biodiversity, the unhealthy living environment of animals in the livestock industry. Such empowerment helps nurture a holistic and systemic thinking of the entire food system, and what could be the alternative options".
	<i>"Experiential learning in Lifewalker class offered hands-on experience for me to learn plant-based cooking."</i>
	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"As an employee, I am engaged in decision-making and design of curriculum for secondary school students. These opportunities empower me to innovate ways to better engage with the target audience. What's challenging is that we cannot influence much on city-level policy making, yet once there is a trend in the community, the government will actually consider policy or campaign in reference to the mainstream culture and support relative initiatives. This proves that community organizations have a strong role in cultivating a sustainable culture."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"I was used to dine-out with meat lovers. Since joining SOEL, we will purposely find a plant-based restaurant to hang-out after Lifewalker programme ends. We left no food waste, which even surprised the restaurant owners. This is the power of collective group."
	"I start to teach secondary school students in 2021, which I have stepped out of my comfort zone to deliver the correct information about food and agriculture. Nonetheless, I feel empowered and more confident in making an impact to people around me through this job."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"We need more financial resources to hire more talents and carry out more projects, so that we can expedite personal development. Also, it is beneficial to exchange more with industry players, yet current collaboration is still short-term focus."
R18	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"After I became volunteer, I need to do more research on related information before planning and organizing events, such as how to prepare plant-based food."

	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"When I understand that I can make small-scale change in my consumption pattern, which can contributes largely in my daily life, consumers then play a big role in driving a sustainable food system and affecting market supply."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"When you see other SOEL peers act sustainably, such as purchasing local organic food, eating plant-based, collecting food waste, I am interested in learning from them. However, collecting food waste is still difficult in daily life as it is hard to change family's daily habits."
	Differences between SOEL and other community organizations
	"I love volunteering in SOEL because it gives so much empowerment and flexibility for volunteers to unleash their creativity to co-design curriculum and activities together, training up our independent thinking."
R19	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"There was a retreat programme by SOEL, which we were offered to taste dried banana and understand the source of that kind of balance. It triggered personal reflection on food production process and be aware of more locally grown food."
	Volunteering experience
	"There are lots of interesting topics to discover in SOEL, such as art therapy, life and death, it never gives you a serious feeling, but rather a chilled learning environment. Its events and activities are also very well designed and facilitated, which create lots of interaction amongst learners."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"Current language used in SOEL is only Cantonese, which may overlook ethics minority, it may be more beneficial to expand the diversity of target audience."
	"In general Hong Kong NGOs work is a very silo way focusing on different service area. The impact is not significant enough. We should form a collective network to leverage each strength and explore cross-disciplinary synergy."
R20	Knowledge towards SFS before joining SOEL
	"As a high school student, I only cared about convenience and filling my stomach when I need food. I am not aware of any social topic."
	Knowledge towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"After joining SOEL, I get in touch with people who act sustainably, which I find it not as difficult and motivated to understand more about the motives behind plant-based diets, animal welfare. I also learnt the impact of livestock industry to the environment."

	Attitude towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"There is actually a circular feedback loop between personal interest and SOEL's influence. For example, I start to engage in beach cleaning, and reducing intake of meat after engaging with peers from SOEL."
	Behaviour towards SFS after joining SOEL
	"SOEL provides opportunities for personal practices. It introduces the concept of kindness farming and permaculture, and offers experiential learning for us to get hands-on understanding about local agriculture industry and farmers."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"I suggest SOEL changing their community education style. We usually attract the same spectrum of target audience, and make no connection between food or agriculture, with other aspects of life. Perhaps we can innovate and create more inter-disciplinary synergy and collaboration so that more people are interested in the topic."
	"Current policy in Hong Kong is not effective in driving sustainable practices, we need better recycling system and infrastructure to change consumers' habits in longer-term."
F1	Challenge of EFS in Hong Kong
	"Food is very important in our daily life, yet the relationship between Hong Kong consumers and local food production becomes irrelevant due to heavy import and commercial-oriented nature. Consumers indeed have less option as bounded by consumerism and fast-food culture. In contrast, in Japan, there is national law to guide food nutrition, secure local food source, and develop relationship between food and the society."
	"Hong Kong education system is very knowledge-focus, with limited hands-on experience and narrow vision of teaching about food safety and security. In addition, Hong Kong has no agriculture economy, and neither agricultural nor industrial food production was taught in formal education curriculum."
	Vision of founding SOEL
	"Formal education model has many limitations. There is less time to invest and less chance to explore non-academic-related topics, such as food, personal development. Therefore, we want to establish an unique education model to fill the gap and equipping individuals with daily life skills such as being thankful, interpersonal skills, reducing usage of plastic etc"
	"We mainly target younger generation as our service audience, because they tend to have a stronger cognition, self-autonomy, and more action- oriented. It is easier to build up their sense of environmental responsibility in the long-run."
	"It is important to align young people's life goals with their personal value, by equipping them with a holistic vision on their relationship with the world."

	Effectiveness of community education
	"8 years ago, the topics ESD is still immature with less public awareness; in recent years, there are more political priorities in Hong Kong and more people start to understand the concept better. The challenge of EFS is still striking a balance between the scale and depth of community education."
	Challenges of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"Since SOEL is non-government funded, our projects are only financially supported by private foundation. Most of them are once-off programme and have to reapply funding again afterwards, which will affect learning continuity for participants and volunteers in the long-run."
	"We want to scale up SOEL's impact by targeting groups from different age group within the community, however our employee are lack of expertise and experience of social work. It would take time to train up necessary skillsets."
	"Our current office is quite small and doesn't own a farm. The limited physical space has limited the learning experience. It would be great if there is a community kitchen for community members to cook togethers and learn more about sustainable food consumption and plant-based diets."
	Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
	"It would be ideal to collaborate more with other NGOs to expand our target audience, such as establishing a community kitchen and dining room, or preparing plant-based meals with locally grown products to local schools."
	"The influence from collective learning is significant. Everyone in the social group becomes motivated, fulfilled and achieved, who are more willing to contribute and make a positive impact to the community and environment."
F2	Challenge of EFS in Hong Kong
	"I observed that the food option we have as consumers in Hong Kong are mostly imported or fast food. In the past, Hong Kong agriculture industry contributes up to 70% of our food, now it is only 2%. There is a significantly low self-sufficiency. In contrast, other places like Taiwan have their own food supply policies in case of disaster."
	"Formal education in Hong Kong doesn't aim to equip students with daily life skills, and the younger generation consumer mostly processed and unhealthy food."
	Vision of founding SOEL
	"Our vision is to put environmental education, art and cultural, and life education into the context of everyday life. We see that the younger generations have lots of personal pursue, but feel frustrated and lost as there isn't much guidance from family or school. Therefore SOEL envisions fostering personal development, building positive value and reconnecting younger generation with the environment."

"The younger generation nowadays are too well protected by family and the environment in Hong Kong, they are lack of life skills. SOEL aims to train up their interpersonal and critical thinking skills through experiential learning like cooking and farming."
Effectiveness of community education
"SOEL has an important role in building environmental effort in Hong Kong. There has been ripple effects where participants or volunteers explore their own career and impact the others. For instance, there is a volunteer who start salt faming, another makes her own tofu and share her values to others. They become role models and spread the impacts within the community."
"Volunteers are also learning in the process. They feel empowered with ownership, which help to cultivate a longer-term engagement."
Challenges of scaling up SOEL's impact
"Despite all operational difficulties, I believe as long as there is faith, passion and strength, things will work out at the end. The key is to optimize strength of different talents, and to understand the local needs and cultural context so to design a localized community education model."
<i>"Working in SOEL doesn't offer our employee any career path. It mostly replies on their passion."</i>
Opportunities of scaling up SOEL's impact
"We plan to facilitate long-term employee personal development, for instance to develop an Asian community for education and health in Canada. Also, we hope to support personal and career development for our participants and volunteers by collaborating with relevant stakeholders within our network."
"It is important to collaborate with primary and secondary school to promote food education, as there are lots of teachers leaving Hong Kong now. This will also help scale up SOEL's impact by expanding more physical spaces."

Table 18. Key quotes from respondents

Appendix 5: Magazine articles of SOEL (For document analysis)

Article 1: 生活書院 大埔新綠點 (Eunice, 2014)





Article 2: 重返校園 學習好生活 (W.Y. Chan, 2014)

Article 3: 學習自然生活 (Oriental Daily, 2014)



Article 4: 向好生活學習 (Tse, 2014)



Effectiveness of community education on enhancing environmental value towards a sustainable food system in Hong Kong

Article 5: 從體制到民間: 教育的另類實踐 (Choi, 2015)





<text><text><text><text><text><text><text>



從體制到民間 敎育的另類實踐

除縫裡,孕育草苗,種出未來。例如一直在敎學制度中覓求突 破的兆基創意書院,亦有在制度以外實踐生命教育的生活書



·哺鹅山的校会。原址服身是佛教大光中攀,棋己翻新



除議裡 - 今資草菜前, 裡出來來。例如--直在發學創度中展求突 酸的北基編集書院,亦有在例度以外實踐生命教育的生活者 家:墨客集多的講畫會是段[思樂史]、 認識在這兩有模式以外,實 對茶知識的傳揮要越創度於巨邊。 善港教育的未來,正在靜靜地革新,形型灌塗一代的香港人 都是一次的事件。這次不同能同時的中國。主要分類的能中呈更 為的表示,正在靜靜地革新,形型灌塗一代的香港人





Article 6: 自然研習室見學 (Aiko, 2017)



Article 7: 探尋食物由來 學懂尊重生命環境 (Cheng, 2018)



Article 8: 邊緣中學變身心靈小社區 把生活一手一腳活出來 (SOEL, 2019)





理念

◀Beatle上進努力,如今已是旺角 髮廊Hair Kiss的專業髮型師,每 天客似雲來。

定期課程

生活書院舉辦的定期課程十分有趣 例如「生活行者班」鼓勵每星期抽一天上 山,騰出時間和空間,實實在在地投入自

與食物一起經歷它的旅程,過往曾製作 傳統泡菜、懷石料理等。書院邀請專人教導參加者檢

> 視食物的「內涵」,一起學習「如何食」,令「食」 這回事,不只是一個慣性的消耗動作,更是一 種生活藝術、一種感恩練習。

The second second second

特別活動

今年年頭,生活書院將與世界自然基金 會合辦「走塑年貨市集」, 實行「裸買」過年食 品用品,謝絕即棄包裝,做節同時避免傷害環 境,與所有生命普天同慶。除了走塑地攤,還 有走塑概念館、社區走塑站、走塑商戶走訪、 惜物再造工作坊和音樂分享等活動, 歡迎大家 熱閉!

▶義工阿晞有份協助籌備 市集,他認為每年的走塑 市集都相當受歡迎,相信 今年也不例外。

Red al

順帶一題,二月的情人節料理班和三月的智能氣功班現已 接受報名,有興趣就不要錯過了。

- 走塑年貨市集 地點:生活書院(大埔錦山178號) 日期: 2019年1月26-27日(六-日) 時間:11am-6pm
- 聯絡:2638 0053

然環境,認認真真地思考生命價值。另 外,「已讀不回讀書組」嚴選好書共讀, 殺校固然可惜,但好消息是,一群熱心的文藝人士把 配合實踐課,希望交換彼此想法的同 空置的校舍傾注新希望,打造成「生活書院」。雖然名為書 時,可以一起實踐美好的價值,在洪流 院,卻不是一所學校,而是一個分享生活的空間。創辦人 中彼此激勵。「食物研習室」更是相當 致力推動生命教育、環境教育、文化教育和藝術教育,透有意思,從種、養、製、買到煮食,

真賓。」

過創意和親身體驗學習自然生活。有活動參加者形容「進入

書院一刻,覺得去了另一個世界,感覺很奇妙,既夢幻又

Appendix 6: IHS copyright form

In order to allow the IHS Research Committee to select and publish the best UMD theses, students need to sign and hand in this copyright form to the course bureau together with their final thesis.

By signing this form, you agree that you are the sole author(s) of the work and that you have the right to transfer copyright to IHS, except for those items clearly cited or quoted in your work.

Criteria for publishing:

- 1. A summary of 400 words must be included in the thesis.
- 2. The number of pages for the thesis does not exceed the maximum word count.
- 3. The thesis is edited for English.

Please consider the length restrictions for the thesis. The Research Committee may elect not to publish very long and/or poorly written theses.

I grant IHS, or its successors, all copyright to the work listed above, so that IHS may publish the work in the IHS Thesis Series, on the IHS web site, in an electronic publication or in any other medium.

IHS is granted the right to approve reprinting.

The author retains the rights to create derivative works and to distribute the work cited above within the institution that employs the author.

Please note that IHS copyrighted material from the IHS Thesis Series may be reproduced, up to ten copies for educational (excluding course packs purchased by students), non-

commercial purposes, provided a full acknowledgement and a copyright notice appear on all reproductions.

Thank you for your contribution to IHS.

Date: 14 June 2023Your Name(s): Leung Jessica Wing Tung

Your Signature(s)

Please direct this form and all questions regarding this form or IHS copyright policy to:

Academic Director	gerrits@Ihs.nl
Burg. Oudlaan 50, T-Building 14 th floor,	Tel. +31 10 4089825
3062 PA Rotterdam, The Netherlands	

